On the Energy Humanities: Contributions from the Humanities, Social Sciences, and Arts to Understanding Energy Transition and Energy Impasse

SSHRC Imagining Canada's Future initiative Knowledge Synthesis Grants: Energy and Natural Resources

FINAL REPORT

May 13, 2016

Professor Imre Szeman (Principal Investigator), University of Alberta

Co-Investigators

Professor Ruth Beer (Emily Carr University of Art and Design)
Professor Warren Cariou (University of Manitoba)
Professor Mark Simpson (University of Alberta)
Professor Sheena Wilson (University of Alberta)

Research Assistants

Darren Fleet (Simon Fraser University)
Jordan Kinder (University of Alberta)
Michael Minor (University of Manitoba)

ON THE ENERGY HUMANITIES

Table of Contents

A	Key Messages	1
В	. Executive Summary	2
C	. Key Findings	5
	Context Implications Approach Results	5 6 6 7
	I. On the Energy Humanities: Impasse and Transition1. Literary and Cultural Studies2. History, Society and Politics3. Philosophy	7 9 9 10
	II. State of Current Knowledge and Gaps in Research	11
	(a) Indigenous Communities and Energy Impasse/Energy Transition a.1 <i>Indigenizing Energy and Energy Precarity</i> a.2 <i>Humanities and Indigenous Knowledge</i>	11 12 13
	(b) Energy Transition and Social Mediab.1 <i>Inhibiting Transition</i>b.2 <i>Propelling Transition</i>	16 18 21
	(c) Research-Creation c.1 Methodology as Finding c.2 Representing Petromodernity c.3 Specific Forms c.4 Energy Research Creation	24 24 25 27 27
D	D. Knowledge Mobilization	29

E. References and Bibliography	32
Works Cited – Report I. On the Energy Humanities: Impasse and Transition II. Indigenous Communities and Energy Impasse/Energy Transition III. Energy Transition and Social Media IV. Research-Creation	32 32 36 37 40
Further Reading	43
I. Energy Humanities	43
i. Literary and Cultural Studies	43
ii. History, Society and Politics	47
iii. Philosophy	53
II. Energy and Indigeneity	53
i. Indigenous Literature and Oral Traditions Relating	
to the Concept of Energy	53
ii. Theory and Activist Writing by Indigenous Thinkers	55
iii. Criticism and Cultural Analysis	56
iv. Traditional Ecological Knowledge (TEK)	57
v. Film and New Media	58
III. Energy and Social Media	59
i. Energy and Social Media	59
ii. Climate Change and Social Media	61
iii. Social Media, Participation, and Activism	61
IV. Energy and Research-Creation	64
i. Film	64
ii. Image (Social Practice, Activist, Performance, First Nations,	
Curation, Painting/Drawing, Interdisciplinary, Mixed Media,	
Graffiti, Photography)	69
iii. Design, Sustainability and Awareness	71
iv. Petrol Advertising	71
v. Literature (Poetry, Novels and Theatre)	71
vi. Exhibitions/Curation/Residencies	71
vii. Critical-of-Energy Collectives	72
viii. Critical Literature	72

ON THE ENERGY HUMANITIES

A. KEY MESSAGES

- 1. A genuine and comprehensive shift in energy usage today requires more than just the adoption of renewable, ecologically sustainable energy sources. Energy transition from fossil fuels to other, cleaner forms of energy also necessitates a wholesale transformation in contemporary petroculture: the political structures, built environments, social dynamics, gendered realities, educational systems, discursive modes, and everyday values, practices, habits, feelings, and beliefs that have developed in relation to and as a result of the shaping force of fossil fuels. The most illuminating and incisive scholarship on energy transition and energy impasse—those social forms and forces that inhibit energy transition—aims to more fully understand and analyze energy as a comprehensive social and cultural relation. The developing field of the "energy humanities" increasingly plays a key role in understanding how energy shapes modern social practices, and so identifies the social and cultural changes necessary for viable energy transition.
- 2. Three crucial considerations regarding energy impasse and transition involve the role of Indigenous communities, the use of social media, and the place of research-creation. Research in this synthesis project shows that significant gaps exist regarding these topics within current scholarly literatures on the energy question—gaps that will need to be addressed through further primary research.
- 3. Indigenous communities are among the most deeply affected by the failure to transition to new forms of energy, and they have been among the most powerful advocates for this change. Indigenous philosophies of energy may provide a strong basis for guiding the process of energy transition on a large scale, but much research remains to be done in order to ensure that such guiding work would be accurate, ethical, and respectful of Indigenous communities. The humanities provide several methodologies useful for this work of "Indigenizing energy".
- 4. Though social media is widely used to further arguments for and against energy transition, the function and outcome of social media in public debates about energy futures has not yet been adequately analyzed. Corporate interests and other groups aiming to inhibit transition for as long as possible tend to use social media to "narrowcast" their position that technological solutions can enable the continuation of the status quo with respect to fossil fuel usage. On the other side of the spectrum, activist groups seeking to propel transition have employed social media to emphasize the need for socio-political changes to enable viable energy futures.
- 5. Research-creation fruitfully combines academic and artistic investigations to create a discursive site framed topically rather than along disciplinary lines, thus enabling new ways of approaching the problems of social mobilization with regard to energy transition. Despite the usefulness of this emerging approach for fostering humanities discourse about energy transition, very little material of this sort currently exists. Creating and expanding the category of "energy research-creation" would be one significant step in instigating wide-ranging public discourse on the cultural challenges of energy impasse.

B. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

What social, cultural and political changes are necessary to facilitate a full-scale transition from fossil fuels to new forms of energy? Making the shift from today's energy systems to new ones will require not only technological developments and public policy innovations, but also significant transformations in the core principles and practices that govern our everyday lives. A founding premise of this SSHRC Knowledge Synthesis Project (KSP), "On the Energy Humanities" (OEH), is that the dominant form of energy in any given era shapes the characteristics and capacities of societies in an essential way; energy is a key aspect of the fabric of our social experience, and not just a neutral input that helps run the engines of our economies and societies. Since the advent of the fossil fuel era, societies have shaped and developed their practices, beliefs, expectations and desires around the capacities and capabilities engendered by cheap, energy-rich fossil fuels. Transitioning away from fossil fuels will necessitate a more thorough understanding of the social forces they have unleashed, and an understanding, too, of shifts in social practices that will be important for real and sustainable energy transition.

In addition to providing a fuller picture of the socio-cultural dimensions of *energy* transition, a second aim of this KSP is to understand the many types of energy impasse that have impeded and continue to impede energy transition. Here again, our focus is on the socio-cultural aspects of impasse—those habits and practices of being, believing and belonging—that stand in the way of the energy transition we will need to undertake this century as we move to a postfossil fuel world. For example, physical mobility has become a value connected with both individual and social freedom and autonomy. Citizens of developed countries have come to expect to be able to drive to work and to fly to distant places for vacations or to visit family; citizens of developing countries have come to connect the process of development to (among other things) the expansion of capacity and opportunity for personal mobility. Mobility is prized. Insofar as mobility is deeply connected to fossil fuel use, it is a value that might well impede energy transition. For despite hopes and expectations that technology will allow expanded levels of mobility for an ever-greater proportion of the planet's population without the use of fossil fuels (for instance, via electric cars), it is more likely the case that energy transition will require changes to how we are able to move about in space, and how much we want and expect do so.

The developing field of the "energy humanities" (Boyer and Szeman; Szeman and Boyer) has begun to map the complexities of energy transition and energy impasse. Given that this field is a new one dealing with a large topic that extends across the disciplines, our KSP has:

- (1) engaged in a survey and synthesis of current research in the humanities, social sciences, and arts on the socio-cultural and socio-political dimensions of energy impasse and energy transition; and
- (2) focused on three existing gaps in research, providing a narrative description of the importance of these areas of research, an overview of existing research, and an account of the need for new research in the identified fields.

The three gaps identified by this synthesis project are:

(a) research on **Indigenous communities**, energy impasse and energy transition;

- (b) specific attention to the role played by **social media** in propelling or inhibiting energy change; and
- (c) contributions made by projects of research-creation to the investigation and communication of energy impasse and transition.

(a) Indigenous Communities and Energy Impasse/Energy Transition Indigenous people have enacted many forms of resistance against modern energy practices, but in addition to this role of objection and critique, Indigenous communities also continue to employ alternative philosophies of energy use that could be crucial models for guiding the process of energy transition on a broad scale. In such a project of "Indigenizing energy," one significant challenge is finding ways to engage with Indigenous communities and knowledge keepers respectfully so as to maintain community control of Indigenous knowledge and avoid the histories of appropriation and distortion that have plagued past research into Indigenous cultures. While there is already a large body of work by Indigenous creators that is imbued with traditional teachings about the relationship of humans to the environment—in the form of oral stories, literature, nonfiction and film, among other genres—there is a need for much more study of this work in order to better understand the practical and philosophical implications of Indigenous energy cultures. The humanities can play a significant role in this work, by providing the tools for nuanced and culturally sensitive understandings of Indigenous teachings, and by enabling critical self-reflection upon the process of energy transition itself.

(b) Energy Transition and Social Media

The specific role of social media in propelling or inhibiting energy transition remains unclear due to the absence of research about the effects of social media on the public's perception of energy transition. However, it is evident that groups on both sides of the debate surrounding energy transition are using social media extensively in the attempt to sway public opinion. Despite the gap in research on social media and energy transition, existing studies on the potential of social media to foster change are useful. The concepts of "politics of awareness," which replace the politics of participation, and "slacktivism"/"clicktivism" are particularly helpful because they point out that social media can limit any real action being taken on either side of an issue. Whether social media is creating any palpable change or not, proponents for and against energy transition seem to be divided along the lines of sociological and technological frameworks. Activist groups who seek to propel transition often advocate a broader socio-political understanding of what energy is and does. However, industry and interest groups who seek to inhibit this transition, but still acknowledge that some form of transition is necessary, repeatedly argue for a technological solution that will allow the continuation of current energy industry practices and whatever economic benefits these allow. This is a *strategic* misreading or misunderstanding of what energy is for and what it does on a socio-cultural level. Despite the strategies employed by those seeking to inhibit transition, the sociality of social media appears to favour the framing of the discourse of energy transition within a socio-political context.

(c) Research-Creation and Energy Transition

The hybrid category of research-creation engages the issues of energy transition and impasse through the integration of intellectual and artistic practices. Although SSHRC and other agencies have a vested interest in research-creation projects, our investigation has revealed a dearth of such projects dealing with energy transition. Nevertheless, the material that does exist reveals a narrative and aesthetic conflict about how energy production and petroculture are represented. While energy corporations and others resistant to energy transition depict energy as an abstract element of the economy, proponents of research-creation projects provide strong counteraesthetics and narratives. Examples of research-creation in photography, film, literature, and collectivist art press the issue of energy transition by presenting current energy production as harmful and alienating. Curation of research-creation projects dealing with energy has become a site of connection for a range of artistic practices. These projects represent some of the earliest critiques of petroculture and facilitate future, wide-ranging discussions of energy transition and impasse. Just as "energy humanities" is emerging as a unique category of investigation between and across ecology, environmentalism, and activism, "energy research-creation" provides a framework to integrate academic and artistic practices surrounding energy transition. Researchcreation may currently be a significant gap in our knowledge about energy transition, but it is also a site of great potential to increase the visibility of the cultural discourse around energy.

SSHRC's "Imagining Canada's Future" initiative poses a key question for researchers across the humanities and social sciences to address: "What effects will the quest for energy and natural resources have on our society and our position on the world stage?" As our findings in each area of the following research synthesis will indicate, "On the Energy Humanities" has focused its energies on the first part of this question in particular. Within this overarching larger question, our synthesis project has paid attention more specifically to sub-questions (b), (c), (d) and (g) (drawn from the text of the KSG competition call):

- What could be the cultural, social, economic and environmental impacts of disruptive technologies for accessing and developing natural resources (e.g., fracking, deep-sea drilling, drones, genetic modification)?
- ➤ How can Canadian natural resources be developed in such a way as to respect the rights, experiences and aspirations of Aboriginal Peoples; create sustainable benefits for Aboriginal communities, entrepreneurs and businesses; and encourage reconciliation and positive engagement between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Canadians?
- ➤ What effects might the development—or halted development—of Canadian energy, natural resources and alternatives have on governance and regulatory systems, public opinion, the economy and decision-making? and
- Historically, how are Canada's values and cultures linked to its natural resources, and how might upcoming changes affect these, including as reflected in the arts and literature?

C. KEY FINDINGS

Context

The humanities have participated in the analysis of environmental and climate issues during the entire course of modern engagement with them (usually dated to the publication of Rachel Carson's Silent Spring in 1962)—and, indeed, at earlier moments in human celebrations of and concerns about nature and the environment as well (from Romanticism to American transcendentalism). Environmental humanities and the practice of ecocriticism were already well enough developed by the mid-1990s to merit the publication of the (now near-canonical) Ecocriticism Reader edited by Cheryll Glotfelty and Harold Fromm; the field has grown ever since, with associations, conferences, and journals created to support research on a burgeoning range of themes and topics.

At one and the same time, the primary task of the environmental humanities is to draw attention to those texts and cultural practices that engage with the environment in a more direct fashion than others (e.g., varieties of eco-lit, environmental cinema) and to insist on the pressures and realities of the environment and the significance of the human-culture nexus for all cultural texts and practices (see, for example, Morton Dark). Both emphases constituted missing dimensions of post-WWII cultural criticism that have now become as firmly entrenched in critical practice as other critical-theoretical interventions into humanistic thought (from postcolonial criticism to feminist theory). At the heart of the environmental humanities is the insight that anything and everything deemed *natural* is, of necessity, *cultural*; how we frame our relation to the natural world and the environment is expressed linguistically (through terms and concepts that explain and name it), is culturally contingent, and changes over time. As a consequence, any attempt to address the now dangerous and damaging impact of human social practices on the environment requires a greater cultural understanding of the causes, motives and consequences of these activities, in addition to scientific insights and understandings of (for example) CO₂ levels and shifts in global temperature of the kind produced (with ever greater certainty) by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

A new dimension of the environmental humanities that has emerged over the past decade is a mode of critical investigation that has recently come to be called the "energy humanities" (Boyer and Szeman; Szeman and Boyer). Research in the energy humanities has spanned the range of disciplines and institutional practices that make up the arts, humanities and social sciences. Historian Timothy Mitchell's Carbon Democracy (2011), for example, examines the ways in which the Keynesian model of growth depended fundamentally on a cultural understanding of oil as an inexhaustible, inexpensive resource. Cultural critic Stephanie LeMenager's Living Oil: Petroleum and Culture in the American Century (2013) constitutes a rich archive of the omnipresence of petroleum in daily life and the way in which energy shapes affect, belief and belonging. Another book on the "American way of life," geographer Matthew Huber's Lifeblood: Oil, Freedom, and the Forces of Capital (2013), traces in detail the multiple ways in which an existence organized around property, mobility and entrepreneurship is linked directly to the presence of cheap and seemingly inexhaustible forms of energy. These are only a few of the most prominent texts in the field; an even larger number of non-academic non-fiction texts have investigated the role of energy in relation to the environment and have speculated about topics such as the likely political and economic consequences of peak oil (Berners-Lee and Clark, Chastko, Deffeyes, Heinberg, Homer-Dixon, Marriott and Minio-Paluello, Marsden, McNeish and Logan, Monbiot, Roberts).

The contributions from the energy humanities are not limited to texts. Over the past decade, a large number of films have also critically examined our relation to energy, including video artist Ursula Biemann's Black Sea Files (2005) and Josh Fox's controversial Gasland (2010). In the visual arts, Edward Burtynsky's photo-essay Oil (2011) and Marina Zurkow's video installation Mesocosm (2012) have joined major exhibits such as The Oil Show (2011) in interrogating civilizational dependence on a single source of energy. While there have been research and artistic projects that have previously examined the significance of energy (and of oil and gas in particular) for human societies (the work of historian David Nye on the establishment of electricity networks is an important example of such work), the explosion of projects in the past decade devoted to understanding more fully our relationship to and dependence on oil indicates a new interest in the specific role of energy in society and its significance for environmental concerns.

These texts and scholarly context provide the overarching framework for our knowledge synthesis of scholarship in the emerging field of the energy humanities on energy transition and energy impasse. These two concerns lie at the centre of the current research; their significance will continue to intensify as a result of the pressing need to address global warming and its principal cause: the ever-increasing use of fossil fuels. The cross-disciplinary coordinates of the energy humanities indicate the broad significance and promise of work in this field for researchers and teachers in a whole host of academic disciplines, and for audiences both inside and outside the academy. The very scope of these same coordinates will also help to measure the significant challenge of mapping and synthesizing the innovations and initiatives in the energy humanities. Put starkly: the newness of the field and the disciplinary diversity of contributions to it, when coupled with the urgent nature of the energy issues at stake, make the project of synthesizing knowledge here every bit as complicated as it is pressing.

Implications

The work of surveying and synthesizing current research in the humanities, social sciences, and arts on the socio-cultural and socio-political dimensions of energy impasse and energy transition holds far-reaching significance in a wide range of arenas—from academic research and training to education and curriculum design to policy-making and public awareness. This knowledgesynthesis project will make vivid and compelling to a variety of audiences the necessary insight that energy is key to the fabric of our social experience, not just a neutral input helping to run the engines of our economies and societies. It will also illuminate the kinds of impasse that presently impede energy transition, and it will indicate best practices, as advanced or implied by research in the energy humanities, for overcoming such kinds of impasse. With the identification of gaps in existing research—specifically with regard to Indigenous communities, social media, and research-creation vis à vis energy impasse and transition—this knowledge synthesis identifies important, even urgent areas for future research. As importantly, it points toward perspectives and methods (in Indigenous ways of knowing; in applications of social media; in practices of research-creation) that offer all publics within and beyond Canada transformative ways of working through energy impasse and pursuing energy transition.

Approach

Our method for synthesizing knowledge—and addressing gaps in knowledge—in energy humanities scholarship has involved four steps. First, we assembled a working bibliography of resources in energy humanities, using all major databases relevant to disciplines in the

humanities and social sciences (notably Project Muse, EBSCO and JSTOR) in order to produce a historically expansive, disciplinary capacious literature review. Next, we endeavoured to map the coordinates of our bibliography, sorting materials into three areas (literary and cultural studies; history and political studies; philosophy) detailed below. We then undertook a careful examination of these materials in order to consolidate our understanding of the three key gaps addressed by our knowledge synthesis. Finally, working as three separate teams, we generated narrative accounts of these gaps in existing knowledge designed to establish parameters and directions for future research. The division into teams facilitated the synthesis of research and narration of gaps; it will account for small variations in approach, framing, and voice in the substantive narrative sections below.

Results

I. ON THE ENERGY HUMANITIES: IMPASSE AND TRANSITION

Just what constitutes the energy humanities? What does it do to add "energy"—thereby assigning more significance to energy than other practices, inputs and outputs—to the mix of the critical approaches to the environment already established within the environmental humanities? Like other researchers and research-creators committed to environmental criticism, energy humanists insist on the fact that environmental dilemmas are fundamentally problems of ethics, habits, values, institutions, beliefs, and power—all traditional areas of expertise of the humanities and humanistic social sciences. They also believe, however, that energy has played a specific, hitherto under-explored, and consequently not well-understood role in shaping the values, habits and beliefs that have generated the current human-environment relationship.

Energy has played a key role in shaping culture and society especially since human communities began to use petrocarbons to an ever-increasing degree, first through the addition of coal in the expansion of industrial capitalism in Northern European, and then via the global expansion of economies and populations through the extensive (if globally uneven) use of oil and gas. Historian Dale Jamieson has recently claimed "that the story of human development has been the story of the increased use of energy. Indeed, we can even think of human history as falling into epochs marked by the human ability to exploit various sources of energy" (16). For those who want to understand the past and present configurations of the human relation to the environment, and who want to do so in part to enable a significant change in this relationship so as to address the climate crisis, focusing on energy can help to identify a key, material component of human development that, while foundational to the form and character of human societies, is only now beginning to be seriously investigated.

It might well seem obvious that energy should be an important part of the critical and analytic element of the environmental humanities. After all, the transformations that have taken place in the forms and levels of energy employed by human societies have been substantial, as have the broad changes in cultural and social practices produced as a result. Over the century from 1850 to 1950, as a percentage of total work output, the use of fossil fuels went up from 6.8% to 90.9%, while animal labour decreased from 52.4% to 0.7% (Renshaw). This massive increase in fossil fuel use (which has expanded more intensively and extensively from 1950 to the present; see McNeill) was accompanied by major infrastructural and social changes changes in how people lived and what they expected, anticipated and desired in the places where they lived. To give but one example of this: the widespread adoption of automobiles reshaped the urban form and infrastructure of the nineteenth-century city around highways and led to (among other things) the creation and expansion of modern suburbs and exurbs. It also introduced a

change in social and individual values, beliefs and expectations. John Urry claims that "car culture has developed into a dominant culture generating major discourses of what constitutes the good life and what is necessary to be a mobile citizen in the twentieth century" (117). Fossil fuel societies are ones in which mobility has become a value associated with being a modern individual per se: to be modern is to be able to travel for work and pleasure in an increasingly intensive and extensive way. Urry insists that we push the connection between cars and subjectivity even further: "so all-embracing is automobility as a system that we can suggest that civil society in most countries should now be conceptualized as a civil society of 'car-drivers' and 'car-passengers'" (130).

We have tended to view the multiple shifts and changes of modernity as ones in which it is political and social developments that have actualized the dream of Enlightenment maturity outlined by Kant: the present is measured against the past, with the difference named as "progress"; changing conditions, attitudes, and ways of life, including individual and social emancipation, are narrated as the consequence of novel ideas combined with new structures of the social. The insights of the energy humanities hope to complicate this picture of modernity through an insistence on the role of the expanded availability of energy in this story of progress. Like Urry, energy humanists want to identify modernity as an oil modernity, and to name contemporary subjects as oil subjects—creatures and societies that are what they are not only (or even primarily) due to changes in ideology, emancipatory struggles, or technological developments, but because of changes in access to energy—massive ones in the case of the full shift to petrocarbon societies that began in the mid-1900s.

"Energy systems are shot through with largely unexamined cultural values, with ethical and ecological consequences," writes LeMenager in Living Oil (4). If there has been an increasing focus on energy within the environmental humanities over the past decade, it has been in large part because the characteristic mode of thinking about energy has to date been *not* having to think about it; one of the characteristics of our oil modernity has been the privilege of taking energy for granted, despite (or perhaps because of) its importance in shaping every aspect of the modern experience. Especially in oil societies, the historical and social significance of energy has everywhere been hidden in plain sight. During most of oil modernity, energy appeared to be virtually free (Mitchell, Rubin) and so did not have to be figured as significant even in economic calculations.

This is not to say that there were no costs associated with the exploration for oil, or that the struggle to control energy resources didn't shape political decision-making and military (mis)adventures (see Yergin *Prize*, Yergin *Ouest*). However, the readv-to-hand availability of energy was such that its broad significance for society went unnoticed, constituting, for instance, a notable black hole in the cultural production of a society dependent on a single energy source as never before (Wenzel). The critic and novelist Amitav Ghosh famously laments the absence of U.S. fictions addressing oil culture or the American role in (and dependence on) the Middle East, while Patricia Yaeger notes that the characters in Jack Kerouac's On the Road never "worry about how much fuel they're using or the price of oil... [oil] seemed as naturally there, as American, as the apple pie and ice cream Paradise eats 'all the way across the country'" (306). The recent cultural and scholarly attention to energy emerges at least in part from its increasing social and economic visibility. As a resource that is no longer imagined as being endlessly available, and one whose use generates climate consequences that are becoming part of our quotidian reality, oil (and energy more generally) is becoming an object of concerted inquiry by humanities researchers eager to understand how and why we have been shaped by the resources

that we make use of, just at the moment when we must extricate ourselves from them.

By focusing on the way that energy has shaped who and what we are, existing work in the energy humanities informs questions about energy transition—the practices and beliefs that will need to change in order for us to shift away from fossil fuels—and energy impasse—those practices and beliefs that get in the way of this shift. Existing research in the energy humanities falls into three broad categories, which we have used to organize our bibliography of resources in this emerging research area.

(1) Literary and cultural studies

The question of energy has, until recently, been one that scholars in literary and cultural studies have not thought to ask. While any number of explanations may account for this oversight, two in particular seem notable. The first is a matter of periodization: the received eras of literary history do not correspond so readily to the ages of energy. The second, meanwhile, is a matter of aesthetics: understood as pure input—only techne—energy would seem to have no aesthetic dimension or significance whatsoever.

An emerging body of scholarship that endeavours to reckon the history and aesthetics of energy alongside literature has tended to take as its point of departure a now-seminal essay by the critic and novelist Amitav Ghosh, "Petrofiction," in which he coins the generative concept serving as his title while at the same time analyzing the cultural poverty he associates with "the muteness of the Oil Encounter" (30). Subsequent commentators have sought to give this encounter voice in its literary and cultural instantiations, including among others Peter Hitchcock, Graeme Macdonald, Allen MacDuffie, Daniel Worden, Jennifer Wenzel, and Patricia Yaeger. The significance of energy systems for the study of literature continues to be developed; as its importance for the study of culture more broadly has been easier to establish, this area of research has developed somewhat more quickly (Barrett and Worden, Buell, Hoffman, Lord, Morton *Hyperobjects*; Morton *Dark*).

(2) *History, Society and Politics*

There is a significant existing body of academic research devoted to the study of the history of energy and of fossil fuels specifically (Hecht, Christopher Jones, Nye, Yergin *Prize*, Yergin Quest). There is also a large body of work on the politics of oil, especially in relationship to U.S. geopolitics and U.S./Western involvement in the Middle East (Klare) and on fossil fuels in relation to the politics of environment. Rather than engage in a survey of every work touching on energy and fossil fuels in studies of history, society and politics, we attended to work in this category that focuses on the foundational role played by energy systems in shaping human social practices.

In accounts of the social function of specific forms of energy (e.g., fossil fuels), history, politics and sociality fold together. Dipesh Chakrabarty's groundbreaking "The Climate of History: Four Theses" develops a new historiography in relation to the category of the Anthropocene that figures fossil fuels as foundational to modernity. Similar re-narrations of history that produce new insights into form and direction of politics and society include the work of Jean-Claude Debeir, Jean-Paul Deléage and Daniel Hémery; Bob Johnson; Astrid Kander, Paolo Malanima, and Paul Warde; Naomi Oreskes and Erik Conway. A foundational work of energy humanities, Timothy Mitchell's Carbon Democracy, pairs the exploration of the history of fossil fuels with a re-narration of the development of neoliberal state power. In Fossil Capital, Andreas Malm provides a history of a previous energy transition—the one away from watermills to steam power—in order to understand the formative role played by energy in the development of capitalism. The studies on which we have focused in this category do not simply take energy as a subject for history (one among many), but foreground energy as fundamental to shaping human history, politics and society.

(3) *Philosophy*

As a subject of inquiry, energy has been as absent in philosophy and critical theory as in other fields of humanistic analysis. For those who have taken up oil as a subject of philosophical inquiry, oil is commonly investigated as a key element of modernity—indeed, it is most often treated as the ur-commodity that has helped fuel and enable modern technological society and shape many of the key concepts that animate it. Of importance to the majority of philosophical approaches to oil is philosopher Martin Heidegger's idea of "standing-reserve". "Standingreserve" describes a world re-written into instrumentality: everything is now good for something rather than a good in itself. Energy has almost always been treated this way: as what makes an instrumental world function, as the ghost that animates the machine of modernity.

Key philosophical studies involving energy include Jane Bennett's Vibrant Matter: A Political Ecology of Things, Timothy Morton's Hyperobjects: Philosophy and Ecology after the End of the World and Sheena Wilson's discussions of petro-feminism and petro-intersectionality (Wilson "Gendered," "Gendering," "Petro-Intersectionality"). These thinkers—and others like them—draw attention to the epistemological gaps and limits of our current philosophical systems when it comes to making sense of energy, global warming and ecological change, and make the case for the need for new forms of ontology and ethics. Of particular note is Allan Stoekl's Bataille's Peak: Energy, Religion, and Postsustainability, which refigures Georges Bataille's philosophical anthropology concerning expenditure and sociality. "There is virtually no point any more in trying to work out a critique of modernity: depletion does it for us, relentlessly, derisively, definitively," Stockl writes; "what is imperative is an awareness that any economy not based on the profligate waste of resources (commonly called a 'sustainable' economy) must recognize and affirm the tendency to expend, indeed be based on it" (189).

II. STATE OF CURRENT KNOWLEDGE AND GAPS IN RESEARCH

Existing research on energy is quickly expanding across the humanities and social sciences. One of the key opportunities provided by this grant has been to search for studies in areas in which we would expect to find research in the energy humanities, but which have not featured to date in the core group of texts that has come to define the field. Our focus in this project has been to illuminate work in three areas of research—areas that we would expect to have generated significant research given their relationship to contemporary developments in energy. Our intention here is to identify and analyze existing research in these areas, and to advocate for the importance of these fields of research in the on-going development of the energy humanities.

(a) Indigenous Communities and Energy Impasse/Energy Transition

As Indigenous histories will demonstrate, energy transition does not only name a future imperative. For most, if not all, Indigenous peoples have already experienced a recent energy transition: from the energy practices associated with their traditional ways of life to the ones that have been thrust upon them during the ongoing process of colonization. In some cultures, such as the Inuit's, this transition has happened within the current generation. While many Indigenous people have adapted to some aspects of Western energy practices, especially technologies of transportation such as snowmobiles, outboard motors and automobiles, in other ways their experience of this energy transition has been generally negative, because of the ways in which modern energy extraction and distribution have affected Indigenous people's relationship to the land. Hydroelectric dams, oil and gas extraction, uranium mining, petroleum pipelines and other modern energy infrastructure have all had disproportionately damaging effects upon Indigenous communities in comparison to non-Indigenous populations. In many cases, energy developments have interrupted or severely curtailed Indigenous people's ability "to be on the land," which is a crucial part of virtually all Indigenous cultures, philosophies and spiritualities. Indigenous people have also been particularly vigilant about pointing out the environmental damage caused by energy extraction and delivery. In some Indigenous cultural traditions this damage is even seen as a kind of ethical and spiritual transgression—a "sin against nature" (Spirit 77), as Cree Elder Louis Bird has said.

Thus, it is not surprising that a large number of Indigenous people from across North America (and beyond) have taken actions to resist this energy transition that has been forced upon them through the process of colonization. In this resistance, their interests go far beyond the immediate concerns of their communities and territories, gesturing instead toward a more general or even a global vision of an ethical and mutually beneficial relationship with nature. Indigenous activists and community members have been among the first people to recognize the environmental damage to which current energy practices are leading. One reason for this sensitivity and awareness is that they are familiar with their own traditional energy practices that are far less damaging to the environment.

The world is beginning to catch up with the thinking of Indigenous people who have advocated for a transition away from the energy practices of modernity and back toward Indigenous values of connectedness, reciprocity, and respect for the natural world. Prime Minister Justin Trudeau presented what has become a common sentiment in his remarks at the 2015 Climate Conference in Paris when he said, "Indigenous peoples have known for thousands of years how to care for our planet. The rest of us have a lot to learn. And no time to waste" (Thestar.com/Canadian Press). This statement, coming from a head of state, is a remarkable admission that the current model of energy use is not working, and that traditional Indigenous

models are preferable. The suggestion here is essentially that the world should transition toward an *Indigenized philosophy of energy*, perhaps in a way that is analogous to some recent attempts to Indigenize Canadian institutions of higher learning. However, there is a great deal of work to be done to unpack the implications of this idea of Indigenized energy. How will such learning happen? What are the political and ethical stakes in such a project? Will Indigenous communities retain control of their own philosophical and spiritual traditions if those are also utilized on a global level? Is it even possible for intensely localized Indigenous philosophies and practices to be applied on a national or global scale? Will Indigenous environmental philosophies be coopted or distorted in such a project?

Despite these difficult questions, there is clearly a great deal of value to be gained from studying Indigenous energy practices and philosophies, because they represent a cultural approach to the problems of contemporary energy impasse, rather than a purely technological approach. One of the most crucial aspects of the coming energy transition is the need for a change in cultural values and practices—and Indigenous cultures provide time-tested models and teachings that may be very useful guides for such change. Humanities-based studies of Indigenous cultures will also be extremely valuable in such work, since the humanities focus naturally upon cultural and political issues. Humanities research can help us to approach Indigenous energy-related teachings in culturally sensitive ways, and can aid in the understanding of philosophical, spiritual and political nuances of these ideas and practices.

a.1 Indigenizing Energy and Energy Precarity

Indigenous communities could have a significant role to play in the coming energy transition, by virtue of their understandings of alternative energy practices and beliefs. Instead of being largely the victims of modern energy extraction and distribution projects as they are today, they could provide the guidance for new and more environmentally responsible relationships to the natural world. Such a change in the role of Indigenous people would require rigorous attempts to understand and redress the marginalization—ideological and physical—of Indigenous people within the history of colonialism and within the current energy structures of modernity. In other words, inviting Indigenous people to offer their valuable teachings to the world would also require reciprocity in this relationship, and a serious commitment to fixing the many problems that colonialism has brought for Indigenous communities. It would also require that Indigenous people and philosophies be taken seriously as practical and highly developed modes of thinking, and not simply as window-dressing or as stereotypical invocations of "the environmental Indian."

Is *Indigenizing energy* a viable goal for future energy policy and everyday practices in Canada and beyond? It is certainly worth deeper investigation. Indigenous cultures offer alternative models of energy production and use, models that have been tested over many generations. Indigenous thinkers and activists have been thoughtful, passionate and often accurate critics of the current state of energy thinking in colonial modernity. Indigenous people also generally have a long-term vision for the future of their communities, one that draws from past traditions, which means that traditional teachings might potentially adapt well to a broad context, even a global one. There will certainly be some problems with adapting very specific land-based teachings into the global cultural milieu—for example, hunter-gatherer practices will probably not "scale up" to the size of the current global population. However, given the paucity of other tried-and-tested alternatives, and the urgency of the current environmental crisis, it will be worth the effort to engage with Indigenous Elders, artists and other thinkers who will bring a

valuable perspective to the discussion about how best to move beyond the current energy impasse.

Another important implication of this work is for Indigenous communities themselves, many of which are in precarious positions in relation to contemporary energy practices. Indigenous people are often the ones most directly affected by energy megaprojects, through their exposure to flooding, air and water pollution, shoreline erosion, and general loss of territory. Contemporary energy infrastructure presents an enormous challenge to Indigenous sovereignty and the free access of Indigenous people to their land. This limiting of access to land is not merely a practical problem in terms of livelihoods and free movement, but also directly threatens Indigenous cultural values that are inherently tied to the land. If the water becomes unproductive due to shoreline erosion after a dam is built or to leeching contamination from tailings, the results affect not only the livelihoods of the Indigenous fishermen but also the community's spirituality and their very identity as Indigenous people. Thus, any work that can be done to move toward energy transition and away from the status quo will be important in guaranteeing the future of Indigenous communities on the land.

In addition to those Indigenous communities that are threatened by proximity to energy megaprojects, many other communities face a different kind of energy precarity because of unreliable or unsustainable access to modern forms of energy. These communities have been connected to colonial energy infrastructures, but often in tenuous ways. For example, many remote communities rely upon diesel generators to power their electricity grids, and this diesel must be trucked in over winter roads—roads that are vulnerable to climate change. In many places, petroleum-based fuels are exorbitantly expensive and are in short supply due to the challenges of transporting them. In other places, Indigenous people living near hydroelectric dams (installations that have flooded their land and threatened aspects of their livelihood and culture) are forced to pay extremely high electricity rates, which discourages economic activity and further impoverishes an already economically marginalized population. Because of these additional negative consequences and risk factors, Indigenous communities would see immediate benefits from a transition toward energy practices that are Indigenized. Enabling Indigenous communities to have more control over their own energy futures would be the first step in an energy transition that may also provide a valuable example for non-Indigenous communities.

a.2 Humanities and Indigenous Knowledge

There is a significant body of work within humanities disciplines that engages with Indigenous critiques of, and resistances to, the energy practices of modernity. Much of this work focuses upon particular Indigenous acts of resistance to existing or planned energy infrastructure projects such as pipelines, hydroelectric dams, oil extraction facilities and uranium mines. Documentary films as well as novels about this subject usually focus on one energy megaproject or one particular Indigenous blockade or campaign of resistance—and interpretations of these works have generally emphasized the role of Indigenous people as critics and objectors.

While such critique is undoubtedly important, it is only one part of the picture. Rather than focusing solely on what Indigenous people say is wrong with the status quo, it is important to have more detailed and nuanced analysis of Indigenous traditional beliefs and practices that may provide valuable principles for guiding the necessary energy transition that is to come. In this area—the study of traditional Indigenous teachings about energy—there has been less academic work to date. However, this field is ripe for further analysis. There is a large body of relevant texts, recordings and traditional oral stories by Indigenous Elders from different cultures and communities across Turtle Island, all of which merit a great deal of further study to better understand the energy-related teachings they embody. These works are only beginning points for the study of Indigenous energy philosophies and practices, which will of course be tied to specific territories, histories, and oral traditions, but they are indeed crucial places to begin this process. Indigenous activist writers and critics such as Jeannette Armstrong ("Constructing Indigeneity"), Winona LaDuke (Recovering the Sacred) and Leanne Simpson (Dancing) have also written nonfiction works about Indigenous environmental thinking that are not explicitly about energy, but that can nonetheless be understood as important explorations of Indigenous teachings about energy. Furthermore, there is still more work to be done studying existing Indigenous artworks such as novels, plays and films for their positive expressions of Indigenous environmental philosophies, rather than mainly for their criticisms of colonial energy paradigms.

Humanities-based approaches to these ideas and practices offer several advantages in this process. The problems of energy impasse and energy transition are not solely, or perhaps not even mainly, techno-scientific. They are cultural. How will humans effect the necessary changes to their ways of life in order to avoid serious negative consequences on a global scale? The technical and scientific challenges are great, but the cultural ones are at least as large. Energy transition will necessarily involve cultural transition, and the humanities provide an excellent set of tools for analyzing and even shaping culture. In the specific case of Indigenous cultures, the humanities provide multiple ways of approaching these subjects and communities in nuanced, respectful and critically engaged ways. This is not to say that the humanities are perfectly attuned to Indigenous modes of thinking, or that they are immune to the kinds of research biases and unethical practices that have long plagued Indigenous peoples' relationships with academic research (Smith). However, within the contemporary intellectual landscape of the humanities, there are now several important streams of thought that have supported and encouraged Indigenous sovereignty and the Indigenization of contemporary North American culture (Findlay; Mihuesuah). Likewise, Indigenous feminist theories and approaches are making valuable contributions to energy and environmental discussions, as well as to a more nuanced understanding of what is required to transform existing knowledge production systems, including the academy, which are complicit in the perpetuation of not only colonial but heteronormative patriarchal worldviews (Altamirano-Jiménez; Suzack). Movements to decolonize and Indigenize our universities, and the practice of research in particular, have developed within the humanities, in disciplines such as Indigenous Studies, Literature, History, Cultural Studies, Ecocriticism and more. In any attempt to Indigenize contemporary energy practices, the humanities will be able to provide nuanced cultural analysis, reflections on ethical engagement and Indigenous sovereignty, and creative responses to the many problems that arise. Much of the work in our Energy and Indigeneity bibliography has already begun this task, or has set the stage for further work that will more specifically engage with the subject of energy within the broader context of Indigenous environmental philosophy.

In addition to this humanities work, a significant body of research on Indigenous Traditional Ecological Knowledge (TEK) has developed in the disciplines of Resource Management and Biology since the 1990s. TEK seeks to understand and apply Indigenous principles of environmental stewardship, especially in relation to contemporary industrial developments within Indigenous territories. TEK researchers have spent time on the land with Indigenous Elders and other community members, learning about traditional teachings that are relevant to maintaining the health of the land. TEK research has also sometimes focused on specific ways of mitigating the damage of industrial activities in particular Indigenous contexts. This work has made significant steps toward Indigenizing particular practices of local land-use management, especially in the forestry industry but also in energy extraction industries. TEK research methodologies have created a significant place for Indigenous community involvement in research as well as in specific industrial projects and infrastructure development. However, Anishinaabe TEK researcher Deborah McGregor has pointed to some potential limitations of this approach, writing "TEK research and implementation in support of sustainable development is arguably another form of colonialism" ("TEK and Sustainable Development" 74). In saying this, McGregor suggests that utilizing TEK research in the service of a Western agenda such as "sustainable development" is not necessarily the best thing for Indigenous people, and is in fact not a true application of Indigenous principles but instead a continuation of colonial appropriation. Her call for a broader, more decolonized approach to Indigenous environmental philosophies is one that could be productively examined through the tools of cultural analysis offered by the humanities. No discipline is immune to the critique of colonial appropriation, but a combination of humanities-based analysis with TEK and its on-the-ground form of Indigenous research would create a powerfully flexible and useful model. To date, there has been little collaboration between TEK researchers and those in the humanities, but such work will likely prove very fruitful.

What the humanities can bring to the analysis of Indigenous cultures and energy transition and impasse is a mode of investigating the large philosophical, political and ethical issues of energy use and creation as they exist within Indigenous contexts. This has already been achieved to some degree through the critical, creative and documentary work that is included in our bibliography. However, much more work remains to be done in the process of relating Indigenous knowledge to the broader global context of energy impasse and energy transition. The goal of indigenizing energy, if it is to be taken seriously, must begin with a deeper engagement with Indigenous cultures and the holders of Indigenous knowledge.

(b) Energy Transition and Social Media

Social media represents an ubiquitous, far reaching communication venue that impacts the daily lives of many. As of 2012, 67% of Internet-using Canadians reported using social media sites such as Facebook or Twitter (Statistics Canada n.p.). That number has likely increased since. Furthermore, like more traditional media outlets, social media shapes and otherwise impacts audience or users' behaviours and imaginaries, however nuanced those impacts may be. But what role does (or can) social media play in propelling or inhibiting energy transition? Can we claim that—is it even possible to determine whether—social media is propelling or inhibiting energy transition? Consideration of the myriad social media efforts from both industry and social or environmental activist groups reveals that there are conflicting and competing voices addressing energy transition in Canada through social media, and further that there is no clear, dominant narrative or set of narratives circulating through these channels. Both those who have stakes in inhibiting or delaying transition and those who have stakes in propelling it leverage social media—including popular networks and services such as Facebook, Twitter, and YouTube—to disseminate their messages and, importantly, to garner public participation in the circulation of messages as a means to their respective ends. At the core of our inquiry into social media and energy transition/impasse is what social media does (or does not) make possible.

Media has long played a role in shaping our understanding of and relation to energy, and the broad social imaginaries that energy makes possible. This influence includes everything from radio, television and print media ads intended to garner public support for oil extraction companies to advertising used to support the ways of life that fossil fuels animate (the most obvious and prevalent of the latter is automobile advertising). Canadian fossil fuel companies continue to use regular media to distribute their message about the importance and significance of their operations, including ads designed to ease public fears about the environmental impact of the oil sands. Industry associations such as the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers have also made use of print and TV ads. Finally, some organizations opposed to the continued (much less expanded) extraction of fossil fuels, such as Greenpeace, have used traditional forms of media to raise public awareness, including direct mailing of information in addition to ads on regular media. As the Internet becomes a more and more important medium of communicating with publics, all groups concerned with fossil fuels have begun turning to social media.

Research on the role that social media plays—or *could* play—in energy transition is virtually nonexistent. Given the significant role that social media currently plays in the everyday lives of many, such a gap in research and knowledge is worrisome, precisely because of the potential of social media to be used for propelling energy transition. Despite this gap, however, scholarship that examines the broader relationship between social media and change is instructive here. Studies of the broader political potential of social media sometimes lapse into a kind of technological determinism that suggests that social media's supposedly inherent democratic characteristics will ultimately enable an unrivalled form of participatory politics. For example, many essays in B. D. Loader and D. Mercea's Social Media and Democracy: Innovations in Participatory Politics, especially Tamara A. Small's essay "What the hashtag? A content analysis of Canadian politics on Twitter," as well as Elisabeth Soep's Participatory Politics: Next-Generation Tactics to Remake Public Spheres uncritically reproduce this narrative of liberation. More critical studies reveal the ways in which the Internet's potential to instigate collective action is stifled by what could be termed a "politics of awareness," a politics in direct contrast to the notably more active notion of a politics of participation. As Manuel Castells points out, "the media are essential in the process of awareness raising, and a number of

journalists have invested themselves, professionally and ideologically, in the project of raising environmental consciousness" (318). Rather than cleanly enabling or initiating widespread activism, the limit of social media's effectiveness to spur action is located within the very limits of awareness and recognition and indeed the ability to measure the outcomes of social media use more generally.

Measuring the outcomes or effects of social media in terms of behaviours or beliefs is a difficult task, due in no small part to the inherent complexity in accurately determining how media affects a broader population, especially when considering the historically unparalleled level of media convergence that characterizes contemporary networked society. Viewed from this angle, the capacity of social media to spur action or changes in behaviour—whether for or against energy transition—is contentious. To underscore this ambiguity in how social media affects behaviour in the context of activism and change more generally, vocabularies have been deployed recently to distinguish between the types of activism inspired in online contexts and other, purportedly more legitimate contexts. Jodi Dean's work on what she calls "communicative capitalism" underscores the limitations of these communication technologies in stimulating positive social and political change in any capacity. For her, communicative capitalism "designates the strange convergence of democracy and capitalism in networked communications and entertainment media" (4). This convergence illustrates precisely why claims to social media's effectiveness at stirring up political action are so tenuous.

Terms such as "slacktivism" or "clicktivism" (buzzwords though they are) effectively signify the ways in which the kinds of passive participation promoted through new and social media fail to measure up to their active, "real-world" counterparts. Summarizing Evgeny Morozov's work on the subject of slacktivism, Henrik Serup Christensen defines the term as that which "refers to political activities that have no impact on real-life political outcomes, but only serve to increase the feel-good factor of the participants" (n.p.). Christensen opts for problematizing slacktivism with a notion of "virtual activism," establishing a spectrum that could be useful in approaching efforts to leverage social media to either inhibit or propel energy transition. But even the metric of "virtual activism" is a slippery one, as Christensen emphasizes. Such a paradigm—between slacktivism and virtual activism—is a significant framing device in the context of how social media shapes behaviours and imaginaries regarding energy transition because the notion of energy and its role in society is tied to larger hegemonic behaviours and imaginaries and at the core of energy transition is the notion of *change*. What's important for our larger questions here, though, is that while there may be no dominant energy transition (or antienergy transition) positions circulating through the channels of social media, a range of opposing discourses—discourses that either hope to propel transition or inhibit it—seem to vie for the public's attention and participation regardless of the proven efficacy of social media in translating to more material forms of action or behaviour.

Of the work that does comment on social media and energy at all, the most explicit treatments are framed in terms of the role that social media can play in shaping individual energy consumption (e.g. Castri et al.; Heinonen; Lehrer and Vasudev; Lehrer et al.; Petkov et al.). Much of this work is in the form of conference papers and presentations, which perhaps signals a future trend in scholarly attention. The energy consumption habits of individuals are certainly a significant and important locus of study regarding energy transition when one looks, for example, at studies of the unevenness and inequity of energy consumption, or the crucial role domestic consumption of coal played in the establishment of the fossil economy in the US. Writing on the latter topic, Christopher F. Jones observes: "Homes constituted the first large

market for anthracite coal. Even though fossil fuels are often associated with industrial consumers in the popular imagination, residential markets have played pioneering roles in driving energy transitions" (61). Such narrowness, however, tends to undermine or overshadow the kinds of bigger picture thinking (and action) necessary to instigate energy transition, ultimately individualizing what is a much larger, systemic problem we face—an energy impasse. Remembering to turn lights off after you've exited a room will not dismantle the hegemony of the fossil economy. Elizabeth Shove and Gordon Walker explore this relationship between individual energy consumption and the larger system of the fossil economy. In "What is Energy For? Social Practice and Energy Demand," Shove and Walker problematize how future energy demands are overwhelmingly framed in terms of present demands on an increasing scale by insisting on a social view of energy as such. By arguing for a social understanding of energy, they show that energy policies are not "neutral," and that the current configurations for the distribution of energy are unequal. Following Shove and Walker, when we ask "Energy... for what?" we hope not only to address individual energy consumption habits, but also to make visible the ways in which energy shapes culture and society, and vice versa. Such visibility is integral to framing energy transition in terms not just of technical solutions but of social ones as well.

While the lack of scholarship on the relationship between energy transition and social media is clear, looking at the social media activity of corporations, groups, and organizations whose interests lie in either inhibiting or propelling energy transition establishes the space from which to speculate what dynamics are at work regarding social media and energy transition in Canada. Whether inhibiting or propelling energy transition, these efforts embody what Manuel Castells has termed "narrowcasting" (Castells 323). Narrowcasting, according to Castells, involves "creating web sites, setting up channels on YouTube, establishing pages on social networking sites, and using mobile phones to send SMSs" and is a preferred communication method employed by environmental groups (323). As a social media communication strategy, narrowcasting is deployed by those seeking to inhibit energy transition or propel it, which makes their efforts structurally indistinguishable. Indeed, the differences reside largely in content and in conceptual understandings of economy, energy, environment, society, and so on. When surveying the range of efforts on either side of the issue, what becomes immediately clear in surveying these efforts is that, for the most part, those that support the fossil economy avoid discussions of the imminent energy transition in social media with a few notable exceptions, while environmentalist and many First Nations groups who oppose or problematize the fossil economy and support transition quite actively comment on it, directly incorporating it into their platforms for broader social and environment justice. At the core of these divergent views on energy transition are categorically opposed understandings of energy itself, with the former settling on a techno-scientific, narrowly economic view and the latter a more social and cultural one.

b.1 *Inhibiting Transition*

Although it may not be entirely fair to assert that industry is *de facto* inhibiting energy transition via social media, the claim holds some legitimacy. A majority of industry social media efforts considered in this study promote fossil fuel infrastructural developments such as pipelines, and energy transition is rarely, if at all, commented on. Some of the larger corporations, such as Beyond Petroleum (BP) or ExxonMobil, do comment on it and promote the ways in which they

are dealing with climate change and investing in renewable energy. Dominic Emery and David Eyton distil BP's approach to energy transition in the bullet points of a 2015 presentation:

We believe that action on climate is needed Access to affordable and secure energy is fundamental to human prosperity There are multiple actors and actions All fossil fuels are not equal There is a variety of resource holders and users BP will continue to play its part, as described today. (n.p.)

The presentation concludes by gesturing towards the possibilities of technology—BP's commitment to a "Long-term technology view" (n.p.)—as well as advocating for a more general transition. Broaching the topics of climate change and energy transition is admirable, but when paired with the more general lack of commentary on energy transition from other energy companies operating in Canada, BP's argument for the maintenance of the fossil fuel economy (albeit one fuelled exclusively by oil) signifies a troubling oversight of the necessity of transition beyond all fossil fuels, despite the belief that "All fossil fuels are not equal."

Shell echoes BP in its treatment of energy transition. In a 2015 speech entitled "Accelerating the Energy Transition with Innovation," Royal Dutch Shell's Projects & Technology Director, Harry Brekelmans, explains how technological innovation will provide the solutions for reconciling the rift between growth and environmental degradation, citing such promising technological advances as Carbon Capture Storage (CCS). "Innovation holds the key to solving this conundrum," he suggests. "It enables us to balance environmental impact on the one hand with availability and affordability on the other" (n.p.). The faith in technological solutions to overcome our collective reliance on fossil fuels, and thereby climate crisis more generally, categorically undermines the seemingly rote acknowledgement from companies like BP or Royal Dutch Shell that energy is indeed social. While Enbridge's "Life Takes Energy" advertising campaign might seem to be one that accurately names the degree to which our lives depend on fossil fuels, it does so only to make us complicit in the contemporary energy system: we need energy for everything, and so we need companies like Enbridge, too.

The social media presence of a number of companies in Canada is inconsistent in terms of upkeep and activity, although many are using services such as Twitter, Facebook, and YouTube in coordinated efforts to promote their companies and the oil sands more generally. BP (21.4k Twitter followers; 205,479 Facebook likes), Enbridge (12.5k Twitter followers; 7,551 Facebook likes), ExxonMobil (172k Twitter followers), Imperial Oil (11.3k Twitter followers), Suncor Energy (24.1k Twitter followers; 19,944 Facebook likes), Syncrude (11.5k Twitter followers; 586 Facebook likes), and Royal Dutch Shell (34k Twitter followers; 5,736,223 Facebook likes) are notably very active. Enbridge in particular stands out due to its emphasis on relatively high production YouTube videos. Its three channels—Enbridge Media, Enbridge Gas, and Enbridge Pipelines—promote Enbridge in general, as well as specific infrastructural developments like the proposed Northern Gateway Pipeline. Indeed, Enbridge's catch-all YouTube page, Enbridge Media, contains a number of advertisements, short films, and interviews that emphasize the social, ecological, and economic soundness of Enbridge's practices. These social media promotional efforts, as varied as they are in terms of activity and content, suggest that social media is viewed in part as a significant venue from which to circulate discourses that frame fossil fuels as the only viable energy source of the present.

The most sustained attempts to explicitly inhibit energy transition through social media, however, are from allegedly grassroots organizations that use social media to promote Canada's oil industry and its developments, especially pipelines. The aim of these organizations seems relatively clear: to use social media to circulate *counter-counter-discourses* regarding oil sands developments like pipelines, and to ultimately garner public participation in that circulation. By invoking the notion of counter-counter-discourses we hope to underscore the ways in which these efforts aim to destabilize or disrupt what can be viewed as the counter-discourses of petroculture, discourses circulated by many Indigenous groups and environmental groups through social media channels and others, such as the "Hold the Wall Campaign" or Idle No More. In blog posts, groups like Ethical Oil decry the supposedly uneven debate surrounding the oil sands in Canada, claiming that oppositional voices are privileged in mainstream media. British Columbia for Prosperity echoes the sentiments of Ethical Oil when describing their aims: "Environmental concerns are perpetually top of mind among British Columbians. There are many organizations who oppose all development and their voices have largely dominated the conversation. We seek to bring balance to the discussion rather than perpetuate further divisions" (emphasis added, n.p.). Yet there is no denying that the dominant patterns of behaviour in modernity fundamentally rely on the consumption of fossil fuels. In other words, the claim that anti-fossil fuel, anti-oil sands discourses are privileged in mainstream media simply does not hold up when we consider the hegemony of petroculture. The counter-counter-discourses from groups like Ethical Oil reconfirm (and reproduce) these systems while attempting to refigure, supposedly from the "bottom-up," Canadian oil as a socio-economically, socio-ecologically positive force, making it more palatable to a public concerned about the current climate crisis.

Even some environmentally-oriented groups actively seek to delay transition and maintain the fossil economy through social media and other traditional media venues, namely the organization Canadians for Clean Prosperity (CCP). CCP is a group closely aligned in structure to the ones mentioned above, but with a focus on green technologies and free market mechanisms. In its own words, the organization "seeks to build enduring political support for market-based policies that generate growth while conserving our environment" (n.p.). Their market-based focus is what stands out here and puts them in opposition to the types of groups promoting and propelling energy transition discussed below. If we understand energy to be fundamentally social and cultural, as those of us working in the energy humanities do, then such market-based attempts to propel transition are misplaced at best and futile at worst. A February 2016 Maclean's article entitled "Build pipelines or curb emissions? Canada can do both," written by the Executive Director of CCP, Mark Cameron, shows as much. In it, Cameron contends that the free market impulses of the CCP project can maintain fossil fuels as a dominant energy source now and in the future. "With a strong regulatory process that takes upstream emissions impacts into account, and a commitment to carbon pricing that ensures that Canada is properly pricing externalities due to its emissions," he writes, "there is no reason why new pipelines to carry Canadian oil to global markets shouldn't be part of Canada's energy future" (n.p.). Cameron's position is revealing; it hinges entirely upon the very market mechanisms that produced the impasse we currently face. A new pricing mechanism that takes into account externalities such as pollution will not address the urgent need to instigate energy transition.

The efforts from both industry and groups such as Ethical Oil, those that generally *inhibit* transition, aim to maintain the fossil economy and the petroculture by imbuing Canadian oil with socio-ecologically positive characteristics. Indeed, these groups seem to mimic strategies of grassroots groups that oppose the oil sands and the fossil economy—thus the designation of

counter-counter-discourse. Several key terms of inhibiting or delaying transition emerge here: innovation, progress, and prosperity. Such terms underscore the ways in which those who seek to delay transition conceptualize energy as innately techno-scientific. Indeed, what these efforts ultimately signal is a *strategic* misreading or misunderstanding of what energy is for and what it does on a socio-cultural level. They are strategic efforts because such a misunderstanding of energy allows for the maintenance and perpetuation of fossil fuel dependence, despite the alarmingly destructive, unsustainable tendencies of such dependence and the urgency of transitioning beyond it.

b.2 Propelling Transition

Groups and organizations attempting to propel energy transition through social media by campaigning against oil sands operations and developments (by, for example, advocating for strategies such as divestment) are largely part of a broader movement in Canada that recognizes the interrelation between struggles for social and environmental justice and struggles against the hegemony of the fossil economy. This understanding of transition, and of energy more broadly, is at odds with the vision of transition offered by BP, Ethical Oil, or CCP. While those who inhibit transition emphasize technical solutions to the energy impasse with discourses of innovation, progress, and prosperity, groups who seek to propel transition through social media by calling for the dismantling of the fossil economy emphasize energy's sociality.

Social media campaigns spearheaded by these groups are active, generally have sustained campaigns with many followers, and, perhaps most importantly, often address energy transition directly. From their respective vantage points on the relationship between energy, environment, and society, the David Suzuki Foundation (141,000 Twitter followers; 410,523 Facebook likes), Greenpeace Canada (36,500 Twitter followers: 164,506 Facebook likes), Idle No More (32.1k Twitter followers; 137,928 Facebook likes), the Pembina Institute (17.1k Twitter followers; 4,857 Facebook likes), Sierra Club Canada (12.5k followers; 6,034 Facebook likes), and This Changes Everything (11.8k Twitter followers) all use social media to circulate discourses underscoring the urgency of energy transition. Popular hashtags on Twitter, such as #Shellno, indicate a broader public engagement with questions of energy transition and impasse, but it is worth briefly examining these more concentrated efforts due in large part to their direct objectives. Producing blog posts, YouTube videos, tweets, and so on, these groups and movements directly and substantially discuss energy transition as a crucial aspect of their respective aims. What stands out in these discourses is, as mentioned above, a conceptualization of energy and energy transition not in terms of innovation or technology but in relation to the social, however broadly conceived. Technology certainly plays a part in these formulations of a desirable energy transition, especially in terms of the development of renewable energies, but they take social and environmental justice as a starting point from which to imagine and demand a just energy transition.

The clearest, most representative attempt in recent history to leverage social media for the purpose of propelling energy transition in Canada is the *Leap Manifesto*, a call to arms penned "at a two-day meeting in Toronto attended by representatives from Canada's Indigenous rights, social and food justice, environmental, faith-based and labour movements" (n.p.). Emphasizing the need to address the interrelated problems of our reliance on fossil fuels, our contribution to climate change, and the "deepening poverty and inequality" of vulnerable populations like First Nations, the manifesto points to the disjuncture between the purported values of Canada and its extractivist reality. "These facts are all the more jarring because they depart so dramatically from our stated values: respect for Indigenous rights, internationalism, human rights, diversity, and environmental stewardship" (n.p.). To address the inequalities perpetuated by the partnership between the fossil economy and the Canadian government, the *Leap Manifesto* calls upon the latter to divest, while underscoring the intersectional issues at the core of Canadian extractivism. Moreover, it emphasizes the ways in which renewable energy is only one minor aspect of energy transition. In doing so, the manifesto acknowledges the fundamental sociality of energy, and the socio-ecologically, socio-culturally destructive tendencies of the fossil economy, while refusing to subscribe to the types of narrow views of energy that maintain and perpetuate inequality. There is no longer any excuse or rationale, the manifesto argues, for building new infrastructure projects that lock us into increased extraction decades into the future.

The structure or form of the social media campaign for the *Leap Manifesto* doesn't differ entirely from the kinds of campaigns such as "Energy Citizens" from the Canadian Association of Petroleum Producers (CAPP) or the pledges to (for example) support Enbridge's Northern Gateway pipeline from Canada Action. Castells' labelling of this type of social media work as "narrowcasting" proves to be an important framework from which to approach the role of social media in energy transition. The model is instructive because it allows us to see an emerging structure of social media discourse that is leveraged by the companies and groups discussed in this report, regardless of their specific, respective aims in regards to transition and impasse. However, unlike the *Leap Manifesto*, CAPP and Canada Action pledges do not contain any demands—they merely ask signatories to perpetuate the already existing, already dominant energy regime. This is a crucial fact and provides an entry point from which to speculate on the role—or potential role—social media plays—or could play—in energy transition. Efforts to promote Canadian oil, to ultimately inhibit energy transition, reveal that social media may play a role in maintaining already existing energy relations encapsulated in the notion of petroculture; this notion, however, is troubled by such campaigns as the *Leap Manifesto*, which suggest that social media is a space of contention and that, perhaps, it is a venue well suited for disrupting conventional, techno-scientific understandings of energy and transition.

Does—indeed can—social media propel or inhibit energy transition? Although such a question is tied to larger questions regarding the ways in which media inform behaviour and imaginaries, social media's role in energy transition remains complex and, perhaps most importantly, under-researched. The two opposing uses of social media with regard to energy transition—attempts to inhibit transition or propel it—suggest that whether or not the circulation of discourses supporting or inhibiting transition directly translate to any shift in the broader public's behaviour or understanding of energy, significant effort is being expended on this circulation and is in turn worthy of closer study. Whereas the companies, groups, and organizations that have vested interests in delaying transition frame energy, impasse, and transition in terms of technological innovation, those that seek to propel transition deploy a more nuanced, socio-ecological perspective on energy and energy transition. The position taken by those who use social media to advocate energy transition mirrors that of the energy humanitiesenergy is at once social, economic, and ecological, and *must* be understood as such. Indeed, the narrowly techno-scientific and economic view of energy offered in corporate discourse does not illustrate the complex role of energy in broader society; instead, it opts to isolate the role of energy in ways that maintain the current hegemonic energy regime. If, as the *Leap Manifesto* suggests, a more equitable future depends on the democratization of energy (its production, distribution, and consumption), then such a future also relies on reconfiguring the Canadian energy imaginary from a techno-scientific one to a social one. Such a project embodies what

Christopher Jones calls the development of "just energy infrastructures": "systems that can provide access to a wide range of users, not simply the largest markets" (160). Seen in this light, perhaps social media's inherent sociality lends itself to destabilizing the very discourses that maintain energy, and energy transition, as technological or economic, advocating instead for a social view of energy and transition—a crucial epistemological reconfiguration that precedes the types of energy transition that will result in a more democratic energy regime.

(c) Research-Creation

c.1 Methodology as Finding

While research-creation as a knowledge creation and dissemination strategy is both generative and productive, energy transition and energy impasse represent challenges to its practices. As a methodology it presents artist/scholar researchers with opportunities to transcend disciplinary boundaries in a way that is truly reflective of the pedagogical turn within artistic practices and the potentials available through integration with social sciences and humanities disciplines (Podesva). The resulting form is a hybrid, socially engaged, intellectual and artistic practice wherein knowledge production does not necessarily privilege text. Because research-creation is a relatively new formulation, retroactively circumscribing the category requires qualifying boundaries that are not necessarily self-evident, especially when looking for research-creation examples that differ from artistic practice in general; not all creation is research-creation. Whenever possible, and recognizing the spectrum of research-creation methodological approaches, we have opted for a fairly stringent use of "research-creation" so as to develop categories with meaningful distinctions: works that have embedded, artistic research or practicebased research methodological assumptions that actively and critically acknowledge fossil fuel culture in the concept, production and dissemination of the creative work. Below we cite two research-creation definitions—one from the artist Graeme Sullivan, the other from SSHRC—that together reflect the approach of this search:

[T]o appreciate how arts contributes to human understanding, there is a need to locate artistic research within the theories and practices that surround art making. It is from this central site of creative practice that other forms of inquiry emerge, such as critical and philosophical analysis, historical and cultural commentary, and educational experience ... it affirms that artistic thinking and making are cognitive processes ... Furthermore, this asserts that the visual artist is not only adept at expression and communication but also plays a crucial role in cultural critique, historical inquiry, and educational development. (Sullivan 97)

Research-creation is an approach to research that combines creative and academic research practices, and supports the development of knowledge and innovation through artistic expression, scholarly investigation, and experimentation. The creation process is situated within the research activity and produces critically informed work in a variety of media (art forms). Research-creation cannot be limited to the interpretation or analysis of a creator's work, conventional works of technological development, or work that focuses on the creation of curricula. The research-creation process and the resulting artistic work are judged according to SSHRC's established merit review criteria. (SSHRC)

We used the search terms "art and energy," "art and oil," "art and petroleum," "energy and research-creation," "oil and research-creation," and "petroleum and research-creation" through the databases Artstor, Art + Humanities Citation Index, and Communication & Mass Media Complete. In addition, we did more generic Google searches utilizing the same terms as well as search queries through major Canadian art galleries and museums. The established databases yielded few results, with the exception of works by Buckminster Fuller (Dymaxiom House, 1929) and the Shanghai EXPO (Oil Pavilion, 2010) in relation to energy and design, alongside a myriad of associated works. Major Canadian galleries revealed a similar pattern. It is only

through Google searches and existing familiarity with the limited field that a small number of meaningful examples were found.

One of the challenges of the category is: how to untangle energy and research-creation from other artistic discourses and subjects of artistic practice, namely environmentalism, climate change, climate mitigation, nature, aesthetics, antiquity studies, art history, art sponsorship, realism, critical media and advertising studies, and sustainability, to name a few? The likely result of the constellation of more-dominant associations is that research-creation is subsumed, made invisible, by larger, more established categories, practices, and artistic discourses. There is a strong possibility that the material we are seeking is to be found outside of the normal categories that define research creation. This constitutes a significant gap in relation to energy and research-creation and points to the need to bring greater awareness and critical reflection to the specificity of the relationship of cultural production and energy.

c.2 Representing Petromodernity

There is an aesthetic and narrative struggle over the "who" and "how" of the ways in which petromodernity is represented. Fossil fuel corporations, energy adverts, as well as government leaders, departments, and programs wholly acknowledge a specific formulation of petroculture and they tend to present an aesthetic of energy based upon immateriality, abstraction, innovation, economy, stewardship and consumption. Research-creation tends to reflect an oppositional aesthetic, one that is alienating, industrial, harmful, septic, excessive and tactile. Out of these competing representations or significations we can identify some common tropes and forms while establishing an overall claim that representation is as much a site of contest as are the actual physical spaces of energy use, transportation and production. Of these tropes, the most dominant and recurring is a clean/dirty aesthetic binary—where the promotion of consumption and growth is opposed by ecological thrift and moderation—measured through the overarching and contested category of "balance."

The majority of research-creation is critical of energy infrastructure expansion. With such critique, most works of research-creation problematize the materiality, the use, and the impact of petroleum on the environment, economy, communities, and Canadian national identity. That said, given the broad social, economic and cultural implications of energy within Canadian society, we expected to find more research-creation works within the arts. Documentary film is the most represented form, with other forms not as readily identifiable in our search. Outside of film, there are less than 100 individual, curatorial, and collective works identified in this survey. This is a potentially significant knowledge gap. Additionally, according to the SSHRC database, there have been less than a dozen SSHRC-funded research-creation projects that deal with energy, primarily in relation to water, over the past fifteen years. Within this context of absence, non-commercial institutions play an important role in research-creation and dissemination with respect to projects on petroleum and energy; they are crucial because other social actors and commercial interests have shaped exhibits in most other cultural spaces.

Artistic curation and thematic artistic residencies are emerging forms of researchcreation. Because of the diffuse and dispersed nature of energy flows, it seems appropriate that curation is a site for generating intellectual, practical, and conceptual frameworks, ones that establish links between seemingly disparate artistic practices under the rubric of energy. Moreover, there is an urban/rural divide within research-creation, as well as distinctions between those cultural producers who use diverse heritage forms of expression and those using

contemporary practices and representations of contested aesthetic themes, future imaginaries, and diverse material, social and cultural interests.

An example of the way that curation transforms isolated works into a tapestry of petroreflection can be seen in the shifts in the meaning of Canadian Indigenous artist Brian Jungen's Jerry Can (2008), a carved gallon gasoline jug. In its original context Jerry Can represents the contradictions of consumer culture and the Indigenous experience through its use of an everyday, often readily disposed product, which is recast by Jungen into an object of beauty, with First Nations patterns and other designs based on natural forms carved into the surface of this quotidian object. In 2012, Jerry Can was included in Beneath a Petroliferous Moon, a show at the Mendel Gallery in Saskatoon curated by Jen Budney. She writes:

Petroleum, in its extraction, distribution, utility, economics, and social, political, and environmental impacts, defines our contemporary world. Yet, in the developed countries that consume it most, it remains a strangely invisible substance, evident primarily at the clean and bright gas stations dotting our city streets and highways. (Budney)

In the context of Beneath a Petroliferous Moon, Jerry Can takes on a new meaning. In addition to being a reflection upon the intersection of the everyday and the Indigenous, it also cultivates the irony of the aesthetically beautiful embellishment of an object of extraction, toxicity, and industrial expansion, demanding a petrol-reckoning from the viewer.

Another example of curation as research-creation in relation to energy transition is the exhibition *Energy* (2015) at the Foreman Gallery at Bishops University in Quebec, a show that curators, Vicky Chainey Gagnon, Genevieve Chevalier, and Gentiane Belanger describe as exploring "the theme of 'energy,' while reflecting on its socio-political and philosophical implications, as well as its uses and abuses." Additionally, Synthetic Seasons, an exhibition of the work of Mia Feuer curated by Naomi Potter, highlights how an artist and curator can work together to engage in research-creation in relation to energy. Through a series of installations, sculptures, and material investigations, the exhibition problematizes and situates the energy desires and contradictions at the core of contemporary industrial living. As Potter observes of Feuer: "She is a woman thinking about the landscape, not in a female romantic way, but in a powerful feminist way, which I think is an interesting shift in terms of a post-natural landscape" (Potter).

There are some evolving questions about traditional art practices versus postmodern interdisciplinary practices within the expanded field of art, questions that bear on approaches such as social practice, which merges aesthetics with social sciences and humanities. In 2014 the Kitimat Museum featured the exhibition *Kitimat Ouestions: Energy* (2014). In curating the event, the museum attempted to engage with the impending pipeline development. To the curators' surprise, however, few artists reflected their political views through their artistic practices or through the lens of petrol as culture (Beer). Whether this response is unique to the Kitimat experience or scalable to other localized and isolated communities requires further investigation. Likewise, there is evidence that regional identities and distinct relations of consumption and extraction shape articulations of resistance and creation-based responses to fossil fuel infrastructure expansion.

For example, Kristopher Karklin's artwork focuses on the social relations that surround extraction in Northern Alberta (Collison). Absent in his work are refineries, pipelines, gargantuan trucks, apocalyptic landscapes, overburden, etc. Instead, what we see in his photographic dioramas are representations of the alienating architecture that subject-bodies working in the oil sands inhabit. Such rationalized built space leaves workers isolated and naked: a direct contrast to the promises of oil riches, self-actualization, and financial freedom supposedly available through extraction employment. Another Alberta artist, Peter von Tiesenhausen, has addressed oil in a unique way by using the legal and copyright possibilities of land to challenge the combined expansionist visions of petroleum companies and the federal state. In his most significant work, White-picket Fence (von Tiesenhausen, 2014), von Tiesenhausen created several artworks on his vast acreage and then applied for his land to be officially trademarked as a work of art so as to make expropriation of his land by the state to make way for pipelines more difficult (Keefe).

c.3 Specific Forms

- Photography offers diverse forms of interpretation and consumption of oil sands imagery. A strategy of aestheticized realism is common within photography, creating ambiguous knowledges, readings and understandings of both impasse and transition. God's eye view photographs are prominent, and avidly collected. A deep ambivalence, however, attends the consumption of work by artists such as Edward Burtynsky (Burtynsky). Burtynsky's photography is often appreciated for the aesthetic beauty of its depiction of oil culture, yet its god's eye stance and abstracted relationship to the viewer tend to be understood uncritically. It can also be employed to compare the Athabasca oil sands to "Mordor" (Arrowsmith), which, depending on the inflection, can be a signifier of impasse, transition, or both.
- A well-established body of work in film assesses and categorizes the varied themes, tropes and ethics of research-creation. With respect to energy and film, we can say that, in a broad sense, documentary is the dominant mode, and that the preponderance of such work is highly critical of the fossil fuel industry. These films are funded privately, publicly and also through crowd-sourcing campaigns.
- Literature is an emerging category, and as such entails limits and possible silences within the search terms themselves. Again, there is a well-established body of critical literature as well as novels and fiction that deals with energy humanities, the fossil fuel industry, and petromodernity more broadly. Within the frame of this search, we discovered additional literary instances, primarily within the British Columbian and Albertan context, that deal with political resistance to energy infrastructure expansion and alternative post fossil-fuel imaginaries (Collis: The Enpipe Contributors: Kroll Swallow: Kroll Wellspring: Leclerc: Wilson, "Petro-Mama").
- Sound is not widely reflected in this sample, notwithstanding soundscape installations by MacDonald (2012) and Smallwood (2012); a more intensive search would likely vield more examples.
- Collective art/activist platforms with a research-creation orientation are more prevalent in the USA/Europe/UK. These collectives, such as The Natural History Museum, Platform, Liberate Tate, and Otolith Group, are predominantly situated within the art world and advance critiques of the institutionalization of petrol culture and petrol dollars specifically, and of growth capitalism premised upon the extraction of cheap and free-flowing energy more generally.

c.4 Energy Research-Creation

Mapping research-creation and energy as a field will require more extensive and sustained investigation of existing and emerging practices and tendencies. One preliminary approach will begin with the premise that artistic practice and environmental activism (as a precursor to

cultural discussions of energy, sustainability, and civilization) reflect ongoing cultural critiques of industrial capitalist economy. While research-creation itself is a newly emerging category and energy research-creation is in its nascent stages, such practices find historical anticipation in the methods of creators such as Buckminster Fuller, whose design and artistic works manifested powerful critiques of petro modernity. Similarly, we can look to the urban detritus works of Mierle Ukeles Leiderman (Danchev) or the land art of Robert Smithson (Holt) in order to detect a methodology that engages with fossil fuels' unique cultures. The intellectual writing of E.F. Schumacher, Rachel Carson, Nicholas Georgescu-Roegen, Howard and Elisabeth Odum and the Limits to Growth authors of the 1970s, to name a few, reflected a creative research process through a petroculture lens. We can also think of the Futurist movement in the arts, though celebratory not critical of industry and energy, as a type of research-creation methodology, one that pre-dates the contemporary definition and categorization. The recognition of this lineage within the field of artistic practice would create a strong synergy with energy humanities, and transdisciplinarity opportunities for collaboration, knowledge production, knowledge sharing and dissemination. While policy offers one way to create change, research-creation provides another powerful tool for shifting social attitudes. Research-creation has a vital role to play in communicating alternative energy futures, precisely in order to inspire a move beyond energy impasse and into energy transition.

In light of the gaps in knowledge outlined above, we see the need for a distinct field in which knowledge creation about energy impasse and transition can be constructed, articulated, formed, indexed, and located. Establishing "energy research-creation" as a unique category would enhance the visibility of these issues and approaches much as "energy humanities" has drawn out the energy question—from a context that includes ecology, environment, economy, activism, sustainability, and other cultural categories—so as to insist that energy is not merely an input but the force that undergirds all of our social, human, and inter-species relations, and that has shaped all our institutions, beliefs, desires, and expectations. With the increasing visibility of energy and its social implications, the dissemination possibilities for "energy research-creation" as a specific approach are exponential, providing an intellectually and culturally rich means of engaging with diverse publics to build and disseminate knowledge.

D. KNOWLEDGE MOBILIZATION

We will mobilize the knowledge synthesized in our project by way of a variety of mechanisms, including: dissemination via academic publications, web information, symposia and conferences, and the public circulation of this report on the project's findings. We have already embarked on initial knowledge mobilization of results issuing from our research at two events in the last three months:

- ➤ "After Paris 2015" Symposium held at the Art Gallery of Alberta on 28 January 2016, at which PI Szeman joined an interdisciplinary panel of experts to discuss the significance of COP 21 for energy transition, especially in Alberta and Canada in the immediate future;
- ➤ "What's Fueling Our Future?," a panel discussion co-hosted on 18 April 2016 by Universities Canada and the U of A at which PI Szeman offered perspectives from the Energy Humanities on the event's titular question.

Additional plans for knowledge mobilization include:

1. Web dissemination: Petrocultures and After Oil

The existing Petrocultures (petrocultures.com) and the After Oil (afteroil.ca) websites already attract significant online traffic from around the world. We are also in the process of creating a French-language version of the primary elements of each website, which will further expand the international community of users with access to our research. This final project report and the bibliographic resources generated in conjunction with our knowledge synthesis will be posted at both sites and made freely available to end-users.

2. Academia.edu:

Increasingly, academic papers are circulating on sites such as AcademiaEdu. All project members who maintain an Academia.edu profile will circulate the document, thereby connecting with a wide national and international network of scholars working on energy humanities topics. Past experience has shown that this method of circulation can result in significant downloads, with numbers much higher than those possible even for bestselling academic publications.

3. ERA: Institutional Repository

We will also archive this report using the University of Alberta's ERA project, an institutional repository searchable through the NEOS network of libraries in Alberta.

4. Conference Dissemination

The output of this knowledge synthesis will be disseminated at three conferences in 2016. Each of these conferences will speak to a range of disciplinary communities, including important groups of scholars working on issues directly related to the questions concerning energy and natural resources identified in SSHRC's "Imagining Canada's Future" initiative. These conferences are:

a. Cultures of Energy—Rice University (April 2016)

This annual event, held in April this year, has become an important site for the circulation of research on values, cultures, and communities in relation to energy and the environment. Participation by PI Szeman has provided us with an excellent opportunity to circulate early research results to an international group of academics and policymakers. The networks of users we reached through this conference at Rice are distinct from those with whom we will share our research at Congress.

b. Congress 2016 (May 2016)

All members of our team will attend Congress to share the results of our research with the Canadian academic community, both at the event hosted by SSHRC on June 1 and in specific organizations that cross humanities disciplines: ACCUTE, ILSA, and Society for Socialist Studies.

c. Petrocultures 2016 (August 2016)

The third iteration of Petrocultures is a four-day conference (August 31-September 3, 2016) that will bring together scholars, policy-makers, industry employees, artists, and public advocacy groups from across North America and beyond. Confirmed Keynote Speakers include: Barbara Neis (Memorial University); Helge Ryggvik (University of Oslo); Graeme MacDonald (University of Warwick); and Elizabeth Nyman (University of Louisiana at Lafayette). We plan to disseminate our research results via a special panel that will involve the PI and co-applicants.

5. Appendix to *Energy Humanities: A Reader* (under contract with Johns Hopkins University Press)

Energy Humanities: A Reader offers a carefully curated selection of the best and most influential work in energy humanities that has appeared over the past decade. To stay true to the diverse work that makes up this emergent, interdisciplinary field, selections range from anthropology and geography to philosophy, history and cultural studies, to recent energy-focused interventions in art and literature. We intend to include a version of this final report as an appendix to this volume, which will ensure that it will be accessed by a range of users for years to come.

6. Academic, Professional and Policy Networks

Through their previous and on-going work, the researchers involved in this project have access to a range of academic, professional and policy networks. These networks will be notified about our research results and informed about where they can access our final results. These include:

- a. *Petrocultures listserv*. The existing listserv is made up of over 250 experts in the field, each connected to their own research networks.
- b. Energy Futures Lab. PI Szeman has become a member of this 'think tank' (energyfutures.com) that will include members of industry, government and NGOs. This Lab began in November 2015; Szeman has kept and will continue to keep members of the Lab informed about developments and results concerning our knowledge synthesis in OEH.

c. *Banff Research in Culture (BRiC): On Energy*. Several members of the "On the Energy Humanities" team will be spending one month with Keller Easterling, Matther Huber and other Energy Humanities scholars and artists at the Banff Centre for the month of June, working on traditional academic projects as well as research-creation projects, as part of a research residency program called "On Energy." Members of the team will have a range of opportunities to share the research from this KSG report with colleagues. In particular, PI Imre Szeman's keynote speech on June 2, 2016 will allow him to draw attention to the reports key findings, and to point audience members to the full report archived online.

E. REFERENCES AND BIBLIOGRAPHY

i. Works Cited - Report

I. On the Energy Humanities: Impasse and Transition

Arns, Inke, ed. *The Oil Show*. Berlin: Revolver Publishing, 2011. Print.

Barrett, Ross and Daniel Worden, eds. *Oil Culture*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2014. Print.

Bennett, Jane. Vibrant Matter. Durham, NC: Duke University Press, 2010. Print.

Berners-Lee, Mike and Duncan Clark. *The Burning Question: We Can't Burn Half the World's Oil, Coal and Gas. So How Do We Quit?* London: Profile Books, 2013. Print.

Biemann, Ursula. "Black Sea Files. From Contested Zones of Mobility to Ecology and Deep Weather." *World of Matter*. Web. 12 May 2016.

Boyer, Dominic and Imre Szeman. "The Rise of Energy Humanities: Breaking the Impasse." *University Affairs*. 12 February 2014. Web. 11 May 2016.

---., eds. *The Energy Humanities Reader*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, forthcoming 2016.

Buell, Frederick. "A Short History of Oil Cultures: Or, the Marriage of Catastrophe and Exuberance." *Journal of American Studies* 46.2 (2012): 273-293. Print.

Burtynsky, Edward. Oil. Göttingen: Steidl, 2011. Print.

Carson, Rachel. Silent Spring. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1962. Print.

Chakrabarty, Dipesh. "The Climate of History: Four Theses." *Critical Inquiry* 35 (2009): 197-222. Print.

Chastko, Paul. Developing Alberta's Oil Sands. Calgary: U of Calgary P, 2007. Print.

Deffeyes, Kenneth. When Oil Peaked. New York: Hill and Wang, 2010. Print.

Debeir, Jean Claude, Jean-Paul Deléage, and Daniel Hémery. *In the Servitude of Power: Energy and Civilization Through the Ages*. Trans. John Barzman. London and New Jersey: Zed Books, 1991. Print.

GasLand. Dir. Josh Fox. Jan. 2010.

Ghosh, Amitav. "Petrofiction." New Republic 2 Mar. 1992: 29–34. Print.

- Glotfelty, Cheryll and Harold Fromm, eds. *The Ecocriticism Reader*. Athens, GA: U of Georgia P, 1996. Print.
- Hecht, Sean B. "California's New Rigs-to-Reefs Law." *UCLA Institute of the Environment and Sustainability* 2010. Web.
- Heidegger, Martin. "The Question Concerning Technology." *Basic Writings*. Trans. David Farrell Krell. New York: Harper Collins, 1977. 307-342. Print.
- Heinberg, Richard. Peak Everything. Gabriola Island: New Society, 2003. Print.
- Hitchcock, Peter. "Oil in an American Imaginary." New Formations 69 (2010): 81-97. Print.
- Hoffman, Andrew. *How Culture Shapes the Climate Change Debate*. Stanford: Stanford UP, 2015. Print.
- Homer-Dixon, Thomas. Carbon Shift: How the Twin Crises of Oil Depletion and Climate Change Will Define the Future. Toronto: Vintage Canada, 2010. Print.
- Huber, Matthew. *Lifeblood: Oil, Freedom, and the Forces of Capital*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2013. Print.
- Jamieson, Dale. "Energy, ethics, and the transformation of nature." *The Ethics of Global Climate Change*. Ed. Denis G. Arnold. Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 2011. 16-37. Print.
- Johnson, Bob. *Carbon Nation: Fossil Fuels in the Making of American Culture*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2014. Print.
- Jones, Christopher. *Routes of Power: Energy and Modern America*. Cambridge MA: Harvard UP, 2014. Print.
- Kander, Astrid, Paolo Malanima, and Paul Werde. *Power to the People: Energy in Europe over the Last Five Centuries*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2014. Print.
- Kant, Immanuel. *Kritik der Urteilskraft. Werke in zehn Bänden.* Vol. 5. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft, 1983. Print.
- Klare, Michael. *The Race for What's Left: The Global Scramble for the World's Last Resources*. New York: Picador, 2012. Print.
- LeMenager, Stephanie. *Living Oil: Petroleum Culture in the Twentieth Century*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2014. Print.
- Lord, Barry. Art & Energy: How Culture Changes. Chicago: The AAM Press, 2014. Print.

- Macdonald, Graeme. "Improbability Drives: The Energy of Sf." *Paradoxa* 26 (2014): 111-144. Print.
- ---. "Oil and World Literature." American Book Review 33.3 (March/April 2012): 7-31. Print.
- MacDuffie, Allen. *Victorian Literature, Energy, and the Ecological Imagination*. Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 2014. Print.
- Malm, Andreas. Fossil Capital: The Rise of Steam Power and the Roots of Global Warming. New York: Verso, 2016. Print.
- Marriott, James and Mika Minio-Paluello. *The Oil Road: Journeys from the Caspian Sea to the City of London*. London: Verso, 2012. Print.
- Marsden, William. Stupid To the Last Drop: How Alberta is Bringing Environmental Armageddon to Canada (And Doesn't Seem to Care). Toronto: Knopf, 2008. Print.
- McNeill, J.R. Something New Under the Sun: An Environmental History of the Twentieth-Century World. New York: Norton, 2000. Print.
- McNeish, John-Andrew, and Owen J. Logan, eds. *Flammable Societies: Studies on the Socioeconomics of Oil and Gas.* London: Pluto Press, 2012. Print.
- Mitchell, Timothy. *Carbon Democracy: Political Power in the Age of Oil*. London: Verso, 2011. Print.
- Monbiot, George. Heat. Toronto: Anchor Canada, 2006. Print.
- Morton, Timothy. *Hyperobjects: Philosophy and Ecology after the End of the World.*Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2013. Print.
- Morton, Timothy. *Dark Ecology: For a Logic of Future Coexistence*. New York: Columbia University Press, 2016. Print.
- Nye, David E. *Electrifying America: Social Meanings of a New Technology*. Cambridge: MIT Press, 1990. Print.
- Oreskes, Naomi and Erik Conway. *The Collapse of Western Civilization: A View from the Future*. New York: Columbia University Press, 2014. Print.
- Renshaw, Edward. "The Substitution of Inanimate Energy for Animal Power." *Journal of Political Economy* 71.3 (1963): 284-292. Print.
- Roberts, Paul. *The End of Oil: On the Edge of a Perilous New World*. New York: Mariner Books, 2005. Print.

- Rubin, Jeff. The End of Growth. Toronto: Random House Canada, 2012. Print.
- Stoekl, Alan. *Bataille's Peak: Energy, Religion, and Postsustainability*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2007. Print.
- Urry, John. Mobilities. Cambridge: Polity, 2007. Print.
- Wenzel, Jennifer. "How to Read for Oil." *Resilience: A Journal of Environmental Humanities* 1.2 (2014). Print.
- ---. "Petro-Magic-Realism: Toward a Political Ecology of Nigerian Literature." *Postcolonial Studies* 9.4 (2006): 449-464. Print.
- ---. "Petro-Magic-Realism Revisited: Un-imagining and Re-imagining the Niger Delta." *Oil Culture*. Eds. Daniel Worden and Ross Barnett. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2014. 211-225. Print.
- Wilson, Sheena. "Gendering Oil: Tracing Western Petro-Sexual Relations." *Oil Culture*. Eds. Daniel Worden and Ross Barrett. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press. 2014. 244-266. Print.
- ---. "Gender and Petro-Intersectionality." Eds. Imre Szeman, Jennifer Wenzel, and Patricia Yaeger, *Fueling Culture: Energy, History, Politics*. New York: Fordham UP, forthcoming 2017. Print.
- ---. "Gendered and Racialized Petro-Subjects." *The Energy Humanities Reader*. Eds. Dominic Boyer and Imre Szeman. Baltimore, MD: John Hopkins UP, forthcoming 2017. Print.
- Worden, Daniel. "Fossil Fuel Futurity: Oil in Giant." *Journal of American Studies* 46.2 (May 2012): 441-460. Print.
- Yaeger, Patricia. "Editor's Column: Literature in the Ages of Wood, Tallow, Coal, Whale-Oil, Gasoline, Atomic Power and Other Energy Sources." *PMLA* 126:2 (2011): 305-10. Print.
- Yergin, Daniel. *The Prize: The Epic Quest for Oil, Money, and Power*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1991. Print.
- ---. The Quest: Energy, Security, and the Remaking of the Modern World. New York: Penguin, 2011. Print.
- Zurkow, Marina. "Mesocosm (Wink, TX)." Vimeo. 2012. Web. 12 May 2016.

II. Indigenous Communities and Energy Impasse/Energy Transition

- Altamirano-Jiménez, Isabel. *Indigenous Encounters with Neoliberalism: Place, Women, and the Environment in Canada and Mexico*. Vancouver, UBC Press, 2013.
- Armstrong, Jeannette. "Constructing Indigeneity: Syilx Okanagan Oraliture and tmixwcentrism." PhD Dissertation, University of Greifswald, Germany. 2010. Print.
- Bird, Louis, and Susan Elaine Gray. *The Spirit Lives in the Mind: Omushkego Stories, Lives, and Dreams*. Montreal; Ithaca: McGill-Queen's UP, 2007. Print.
- Bird, Louis, Jennifer S. H. Brown, Anne Lindsay, Paul W. DePasquale, Roland Bohr, Donna G. Sutherland, and Mark F. Ruml. *Telling Our Stories: Omushkego Legends and Histories from Hudson Bay.* Peterborough, Ont.: Broadview, 2005. Print.
- Findlay, Len. "Always Indigenize! The Radical Humanities in the Postcolonial Canadian University." *Ariel: A Review of International Literature* 31.1-2 (2000). 307-26. Print.
- La Duke, Winona. *Recovering the Sacred: The Power of Naming and Claiming*. Cambridge, MA: South End, 2005. Print.
- McGregor, Deborah. "Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Sustainable Development: Towards Coexistence." *The Way of Development: Indigenous Peoples, Life Projects and Globalization.* Eds. Mario Blaser, et al. New York: Zed Books, 2004. Print.
- Mihuesua, Devon and Angela Wilson, eds. *Indigenizing the Academy: Transforming Scholarship and Empowering Communities*. Lincoln, NE: Bison Books, 2004.
- Simpson, Leanne Betasamosake. *Dancing On Our Turtle's Back: Stories of Nishnaabeg Re-Creation, Resurgence, and a New Emergence.* Winnipeg: Arbeiter Ring Publishers, 2011. Print.
- Smith, Linda Tuhiwai. *Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous People*. 2nd Ed. New York: Zed Books, 2012. Print.
- Suzack, Cheryl. "Land Claims, Identity Claims: Mapping Indigenous Feminism in Literary Criticism and in Winona LaDuke's *Last Standing Woman*." *Reasoning Together: The Native Critics' Circle*. Craig Womack et al, eds. Norman: University of Oklahoma, 2008. 169-192.
- Thestar.com/Canadian Press. "Canada is back,' says Trudeau in Paris. 'We're here to help." *The Toronto Star.* 30 Nov. 2015. Web. 20 Apr. 2016.

III. Energy Transition and Social Media

- "About Canadians for Clean Prosperity." *Canadians for Clean Prosperity*. n.d. Web. 7 May 2016.
- "Accelerating the Energy Transition with Innovation." Speech given by Harry Brekelmans, Projects & Technology Director, Royal Dutch Shell plc, at the International Energy Charter Conference in The Hague, May 21, 2015. PDF.
- BP plc. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.
- bp. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.
- British Columbians for Prosperity. Web. 12 May 2016.
- "British Columbians for Prosperity." *British Columbians for Prosperity*. British Columbians for Prosperity, n.d. 4 July 2015.
- Brekelmans, Harry. "Accelerating the Energy Transition with Innovation." *Shell Global*. 21 May 2015. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Canadians for Clean Prosperity. Web. 12 May 2016.
- Cameron, Mark. "Build pipelines or curb emissions? Canada can do both." *Maclean's*. 11 Feb. 2016. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Castells, Manuel. Communication Power. New York: Oxford UP, 2009. Print.
- Castri, Roberta, et al. "Favouring behavioural change of households' energy consumption through social media and cooperative play." Submission for BEHAVE 2014 theme "Gamification and social media"
- Christensen, Henrik Serup. "Political activities on the Internet: Slacktivism or political participation by other means?" *First Monday* 16.2 (2011): n.p. HTML.
- DavidSuzuki. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.
- DavidSuzukiFDN. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.
- Dean, Jodi. *Blog Theory: Feedback and Capture in the Circuits of Drive*. Malden, MA: Polity Press, 2010. Print.
- Emery, Dominic and David Eyton. *The energy transition: BP's approach*. [Presentation slides.] Retrieved from http://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/pdf/investors/bp-the-energy-transition-20-03-15.pdf

enbridge. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

enbridge. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

EnbridgeGas. YouTube. Web. 12 May 2016.

EnbridgeMedia. YouTube. Web. 12 May 2016.

EnbridgePipelines. YouTube. Web. 12 May 2016.

Ethical Oil. Web. 12 May 2016.

exxonmobil. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

GreenpeaceCA. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

greenpeace canada. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

Heinonen, Sirkka. "Neo-Growth in Future Post-Carbon Cities." *Journal of Future Studies* 18.1 (2013): 13-40. Print.

Hold the Wall. Web. 12 May 2016.

ImperialOil. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

Idle No More. Web. 12 May 2016.

IdleNoMore4. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

IdleNoMoreCommunity. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

Jones, Christopher F. "Building More Just Energy Infrastructure: Lessons from the Past." *Science as Culture* 22.2 (2013): 157-163. Print.

---. Routes of Power: Energy and Modern America. Cambridge MA: Harvard UP, 2014. Print.

Leap Manifesto. Web. 12 May 2016.

Lehrer, David and Janani Vasudev. "Evaluating a Social Media Application for Sustainability in the Workplace." *CHI2011*, May 7–12, 2011, Vancouver, BC, Canada.

Lehrer, David, Janani Vasudev, and Soazig Kaam. "Evaluating a Social Media Application for Conserving Energy and Improving Operations in Commercial Buildings." *CHI2011*, May 7–12, 2011, Vancouver, BC, Canada.

Loader, B. D. and D. Mercea. "Networking democracy? Social media innovations in participatory politics." *Social media and democracy: Innovations in participatory politics*. Eds. B.D. Loader and D. Mercea. New York: Routledge, 2012. 1-10. Print.

pembina. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

pembina institute. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

Petkov, Petromil, Felix Köbler, Marcus Foth, and Helmut Krcmar. "Motivating domestic energy conservation through comparative, community-based feedback in mobile and social media." In: *5th International Conference on Communities & Technologies* (C&T 2011), 29 June - 2 July 2011, Brisbane.

Shell. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

Shell Canada. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

Shove, Elizabeth and Gordon Walker. "What is Energy For? Social Practice and Energy Demand." *Theory, Culture & Society* 31.5 (2014): 41-58. Print.

sierraclubcan. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

sierraclubcanada. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

Small, Tamara A. "What the hashtag? A content analysis of Canadian politics on Twitter." *Social media and democracy: Innovations in participatory politics*. Eds. B.D. Loader and D. Mercea. New York: Routledge, 2012. 109-127. Print.

Soep, Elisabeth. *Participatory Politics: Next-Generation Tactics to Remake Public Spheres.* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2014. Print.

Statistics Canada. "The Daily—Individual internet use and e-commerce, 2012." *Statistics Canada*. 28 Oct. 2013. Web. 12 May 2016.

suncorenergy. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

suncorenergy. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

SyncrudeCanada. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

Syncrude Canada Ltd. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

thischanges. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

thischangeseverythingproject. Facebook. Web. 12 May 2016.

"Who's On Board | The Leap Manifesto." The Leap Manifesto. n.d. Web. 7 May 2016.

IV. Research-Creation

- Arrowsmith, Lisa. "Alberta's oilsands like Mordor: Maude Barlow." *The Toronto Star.* 31 Oct. 2008. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Beer, Ruth. "Conversations." *Trading Routes: Grease Trails, Oil Futures*. 2015. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Budney, Jen. "Beneath a Petroliferous Moon—Mendel Art Gallery." *Mendel*. Web. 12 May 2016.
- Burtynsky, Edward. *Oil*. Royal Ontario Museum Institute for Contemporary Culture, Toronto, 9 April-2 Sept. 2011.
- Carson, Rachel. Silent Spring. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1962. Print.
- Collis, Stephen. Once in Blockadia. Vancouver: Talon Books, 2016. Print.
- Collison, Melanie. "Another artist's take on the oil sands." *Oil Sands Review.* 1 Dec. 2011. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Danchev, Alex, ed. 100 Artists' Manifestos: From the Futurists to the Stuckists. London: Penguin UK, 2011. Print.
- Fuller, Buckminster. *Dymaxion House* [Architectural Drawing]. New York, NY: Museum of Modern Art, 1927.
- Gagnon, Vicky Chainey, Genevieve Chevalier, and Gentiane Belanger. "Exhibitions Foreman Art Gallery." *Foreman Art Gallery*. 2014. Web. 12 May 2016.
- Georgescu-Roegen, Nicholas. *The Entropy Law and the Economic Process*. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard UP, 1971. Print.
- Holt, Nancy and Robert Smithson. *The Writings of Robert Smithson: Essays with Illustrations*. New York: New York UP, 1979. Print.
- Jungen, Brian. *Jerry Can* [Sculpture]. *Beneath a Petroliferous Moon*. Mendel Art Gallery, Saskatoon, 28 September 2012-6 January 2013.
- Keefe, Stephen. "This Canadian artist halted pipeline development by copyrighting his land." *Vice*. 5 Nov. 2014. Web. 7 May 2016.
- "Kitimat Questions: Energy." *Kitimat Museum*. Web. 12 May 2016.

- Kroll, Leslea. Swallow. Frente Theatre Collective. Aizmuth Theatre, Edmonton, March 26-30, 2008.
- ---. *Wellspring*. Frackaso: Portraits of Extraction in Eagle Ford and Beyond. Esperanza Peace & Justice Center, San Antonio, TX, April 18-August 31, 2014.
- Leclerc, Christine. Oilywood. Vancouver: Nomados, 2014. Print.
- Liberate Tate. Web. 12 May 2016.
- Meadows, Donnella H et al. *The Limits to Growth: The 30-Year Update*. London: Earthscan, 2006. Print.
- The Otolith Group. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Odum, Howard T. and Elisabeth C. Odum. *Energy Basis for Man and Nature*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1976. Print.
- "Oil Pavilion of 2010 Expo." *CNPC: China National Petroleum Corporation*. n.d. Web. 11 May 2016.
- Petro-Mama: Mothering in a Crude World. Dir. Sheena Wilson. 2016.
- Podesva, Kristina. "A Pedagogical Turn: Brief Notes on Education as Art." *Fillip.* 2007. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Potter, Naomi. "MIA FEUER: "Synthetic Seasons," Esker Foundation, Calgary, May 23 to Sept. 6, 2015 Galleries West." *Galleries West*. 20 May 2015. Web. 12 May 2016.
- Platform London. Web. 7 May 2016.
- "research-creation." SSHRC—Definition of Terms. 2016. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Schumacher, E.F. *Small is Beautiful: A Study of Economics as if People Mattered*. London: Blond & Briggs, 1973. Print.
- Smallwood, Scott. *Sonic Pumpjack Explorer*. Oil & Water Exhibit, curated by Maria Whiteman, Gallery 501, Sherwood Park AB, 2012.
- Sullivan, Graeme, ed. *Art Practice as Research: Inquiry in Visual Arts*. London: Sage, 2010. Print.
- The Enpipe Line Contributors. *The Enpipe Line:* 70,000km of poetry written in resistance to the Northern Gateway pipeline proposal. Smithers, BC: Creekstone Press, 2015. Print.
- The Natural History Museum. Web. 7 May 2016.

- von Tiesenhausen, Peter. *White-picket fence*. [Sculpture]. *Public Art Review*. 27 Feb. 2015. Web. 7 May 2016.
- Wilson, Sheena. "Petro-Mama: Mothering in a Crude World." *Telling Truths: Storying Motherhood*. Eds. Sheena Wilson and Diana Davidson. Bradford, ON: Demeter Press, 2014. Print.

Further Reading

I. Energy Humanities

i. Literary and Cultural Studies

- Barrett, Ross and Daniel Worden, eds. *Oil Culture*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2014. Print.
- Bass, Rick. Oil Notes. Dallas, TX: Southern Methodist U, 1989. Print.
- Bellamy, Brent Ryan. "Energy and Literary Studies" *Reviews in Cultural Theory* 6.3 (2016):9-12. Print.
- Biemann, Ursula, Peter Mörtenböck, and Helge Mooshammer. "From Supply Lines to Resource Economies." *Third Text* 27.1 (2013): 76-94. Print.
- Boetzkes, Amanda and Andrew Pendakis. "Visions of Eternity: Plastic and the Ontology of Oil." *e-flux journal* 47 (2013): n.p. HTML.
- Borasi, G. and M. Zardini, ed. *Sorry, Out of Gas: Architecture's Response to the 1973 Oil Crisis*. Montreal/Italy: Canadian Center for Architecture and Montova/Corraini Edizioni, 2007. Print.
- Boyer, Dominic and Imre Szeman. "The Rise of Energy Humanities: Breaking the Impasse." *University Affairs*. 12 February 2014. Web. 11 May 2016.
- ---., eds. *The Energy Humanities Reader*. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press, forthcoming 2016.
- Boyer, Dominic. "Energopolitics and the Anthropology of Energy." *Anthropology Newsletter* May 2011: 5, 7.
- ---. "Energopower: An introduction." *Anthropological Quarterly* 8.2 (2014): 309-334. Print.
- Buell, Frederick. "A Short History of Oil Cultures: Or, the Marriage of Catastrophe and Exuberance." *Journal of American Studies* 46.2 (2012): 273-293. Print.
- Burnham, Clint. "#Pipeline Politics." Reviews in Cultural Theory 6.3 (2016): 5-8. Print.
- Calvino, Italo. "The Petrol Pump." *Numbers in the Dark: And Other Stories*. Trans. Tim Parks. London: Vintage, 1996. Print.
- Carlson, Adam. "Petrorealism on The Oil Road." Introduction to Mika Minio-Paluello's unpublished talk "Revolution, oil climate change—Fossil fuels in North Africa and the Arab Uprisings." Humanities Centre, University of Alberta, 18 October 2013.

- Connery, Christopher. "Sea Power." PMLA 125.3 (2010): 685-692. Print.
- Diamanti, Jeff. "Thoughts on Marxism and Energy for MLG-ICS 2014." *The Analogous City* 15 June 2014. Web.
- ---. "Three Theses on Energy and Capital." Reviews in Cultural Theory. 6.3 (2016): 13-16.
- Diamanti, Jeff and Brent Ryan Bellamy. "Editors' Introduction: Envisioning the Energy Humanities" *Reviews in Cultural Theory* 6.3 (2016): 1-4. Print.
- Dickinson, Adam. "Energy Humanities and Metabolic Poetics." *Reviews in Cultural Theory*. 6.3 (2016): 17-21. Print.
- Donnelly, Sean. "Peak Oil Imagining in Cormac McCarthy's The Road and Paolo Bacigalupi's The Windup Girl." *English Academy Review* 31.2 (2014): 156-169. Print.
- Fernández-Galiano, Luis. *Fire and Memory: On Architecture and Energy*. Trans. Gina Cariño. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2000. Print.
- Friedel, Tracy L. "(Not so) Crude Text and Images: Staging Native in 'big Oil' Advertising." *Visual Studies* 23.3 (2008): 238-254. Print.
- Ghosh, Amitav. "Petrofiction: The Oil Encounter and the Novel." *Incendiary Circumstances*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1992. 138-151. Print.
- Hitchcock, Peter. "Energy Bars." Reviews in Cultural Theory 6.3 (2016): 22-24. Print.
- ---. "Oil in an American Imaginary." New Formations 69 (2010): 81-97. Print.
- Ifowodo, Ogaga. The Oil Lamp. Trenton: Africa World Press, 2005. Print.
- Johnson, Bob. *Carbon Nation: Fossil Fuels in the Making of American Culture*. Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2014. Print.
- ---. "Coal, Trauma, and the Origins of the Modern Self." *Journal of American Culture* 33.4 (2010): 265-279. Print.
- LeMenager, Stephanie. "The Aesthetics of Petroleum, after Oil!" *American Literary History* 24.1 (2012): 59-86. Print.
- ---. "Infrastructure Again, and Always." Reviews in Cultural Theory. 6.3 (2016): 25-29. Print.
- ---. Living Oil: Petroleum Culture in the Twentieth Century. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2014. Print.

- Liberate Tate. Not If, But When: Culture Beyond Oil. London: Platform London, 2011. Web.
- Macdonald, Graeme. "Improbability Drives: The Energy of Sf." *Paradoxa* 26 (2014): 111-144. Print.
- ---. "Oil and World Literature." *American Book Review* 33.3 (March/April 2012): 7-31. Print.
- Makdisi, Saree. "Empire and Human Energy." PMLA 126.2 (2011): 318-320. Print.
- Neuman, Justin. "Petromodernism." *Petrocultures*. Edmonton: University of Alberta, 7-8 September 2012. Presentation.
- Simpson, Mark. "Lubricity." *Petrocultures: Oil, Energy, Culture*. Sheena Wilson, Adam Carlson and Imre Szeman, eds. Montreal-Kingston: McGill-Queen's University Press, forthcoming 2016, print.
- ---. "Kerosene." *Fueling Culture: Energy, History, Politics*. Imre Szeman, Jennifer Wenzel, and Patricia Yaeger, eds. New York: Fordham University Press, forthcoming 2017, print.
- Sinclair, Upton. Oil! New York: Penguin, 2007. Print.
- Smith, Crosbie. *The Science of Energy: A Cultural History of Energy Physics in Victorian Britain*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1998. Print.
- Szeman, Imre. "Blind Faith." Policy Options Jan-Feb 2014. 6 Jan 2014. Web. 6 May 2016.
- ---. "Conclusion: On Energopolitics." *Anthropological Quarterly* 87.2 (2014): 453-454. Print.
- ---. "Crude Aesthetics: The Politics of Oil Documentaries." *Journal of American Studies* 46 (2012): 423-439. Print.
- ---. "The Cultural Politics of Oil: On Lessons of Darkness and Black Sea Files." *Polygraph* 22 (2010): 33-45. Print.
- ---. "How to Know Oil: Energy Epistemologies and Political Futures" *Journal of Canadian Studies* 47.3 (Fall 2013): 145-168. Print.
- ---. "Introduction to Focus: Petrofictions." *American Book Review* 33.3 (2012): 3. Print.
- ---. "Literature and Energy Futures." *PMLA* 126.2 (2011): 323-325. Print.
- ---. "System Failure: Oil, Futurity, and the Anticipation of Disaster." *South Atlantic Quarterly* 106.4 (2007): 805-823. Web.
- Szeman, Imre and Maria Whiteman. "Oil Imag(e)ries: Critical Realism and the Oil Sands." *Imaginations* 3.2 (2012): 46-47.

- Takach, George. "Selling Nature In a Resource-Based Economy: Romantic/Extractive Gazes and Alberta's Bituminous Sands." *Environmental Communication: A Journal of Nature and Culture* 7.2 (2013): 211-230. Print.
- Turcotte, Heather. "Contextualizing Petro-Sexual Politics." *Alternatives: Global, Local, Political* 36.3 (2011): 200-220. Print.
- ---. Petro-Sexual Politics: Global Oil, Legitimate Violence and Transnational Justice. Charleston: BiblioBazaar, 2011. Print.
- Wenzel, Jennifer. "How to Read for Oil." Resilience: A Journal of Environmental Humanities 1.2 (2014). Print.
- ---. "Petro-Magic-Realism: Toward a Political Ecology of Nigerian Literature." Postcolonial Studies 9.4 (2006): 449-464. Print.
- ---. "Petro-Magic-Realism Revisited: Un-imagining and Re-imagining the Niger Delta." *Oil Culture*. Eds. Daniel Worden and Ross Barnett. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2014. 211-225. Print.
- ---. "Taking Stock of Energy Humanities." Reviews in Cultural Theory 6.3 (2016): 30-34. Print.
- Weszhalyns, Gisa. "Oil's Magic: Materiality and Contestation." *Cultures of Energy*. Eds. Sarah Strauss, Stephanie Rupp and Thomas Love. Walnut Creek: Left Coast Press, 2013. 267-283. Print.
- White, Leslie. "Energy and the Evolution of Culture." *American Anthropologist* 45.3 (1943): 335-356. Print.
- Wilson, Sheena. "Ethical Oil: The Case for Canada's Oil Sands, Review." *American Book Review* 33.2 (2012): 8-9. Print.
- ---. "Gendering Oil: Tracing Western Petro-sexual Relations through Colonialist and Capitalist Petro-discourses." *Oil Culture*. Eds. Ross Barrett and Daniel Worden. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2014. 244-266. Print.
- Yaeger, Patricia. "Literature in the Ages of Wood, Tallow, Coal, Whale-Oil, Gasoline, Atomic Power and Other Energy Sources." *PMLA* 126:2 (2011): 305-10. Print.
- Yaeger, Patricia, and Laurie Shannon, Vin Nardizzi, Ken Hiltner, Saree Makdisi, Michael Ziser, and Imre Szeman. "Editor's Column: Literature in the Ages of Wood, Tallow, Coal, Whale Oil, Gasoline, Atomic Power, and Other Energy Sources." *PMLA* 126.2 (2011): 305-325. Print.
- Ziser, Michael. "Oil Spills." PMLA 126.2 (2011): 321-323.

ii. History, Society and Politics

- Abramsky, Kolya, ed. *Sparking a Worldwide Energy Revolution: Social Struggles in the Transition to a Post-Petrol World.* Oakland: AK Press, 2010. Print.
- Adkin, Laurie. First World Petro-Politics: The Political Ecology and Governance of Alberta. Toronto: University of Toronto P, forthcoming. Print.
- Apter, Andrew. *The Pan-African Nation: Oil and the Spectacle of Culture in Nigeria*. Chicago: Chicago University Press, 2005. Print.
- Barry, Andrew. "Visible Invisibility." *New Geographies 2: Landscapes of Energy.* Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2009. 67-74. Print.
- Beaudreau, Bernard C. *Energy and the Rise and Fall of Political Economy*. Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO Press, 1999. Print.
- Black, Toban, Stephen D'Arcy, and Tony Weis, eds. *A Line in the Tar Sands: Struggles for Environmental Justice*. Oakland, CA: PM Press, 2014. Print.
- Bond, Patrick and Trevor Ngwane. "Community Resistance to Energy Privatisation in South Africa." *Sparking a Worldwide Energy Revolution: Social Struggles in the Transition to a Post-Petrol World.* Ed. Kolya Abromsky. Oakland: AK Press, 2010. 197-207. Print.
- Burkett, Paul and John Bellamy Foster. "Metabolism, Energy, and Entropy in Marx's Critique of Political Economy: Beyond the Podolinsky Myth." *Theory and Society* 35.1 (2006): 109-156. Print.
- ---. "Ecological Economics and Classical Marxism: The 'Podolinsky Business' Reconsidered." *Organization & Environment* 17.1 (2004): 32-60. Print.
- Caffentzis, George. "The Petroleum Commons." *CounterPunch* 15 December 2004. Web. 28 June 2015.
- Clarke, Tony. Tar Sands Showdown: Canada and the Politics of Oil in an Age of Climate Change. Toronto: Lorimer, 2008. Print.
- Coll, Steve. *Private Empire: ExxonMobil and American Power*. New York: Penguin, 2012. Print.
- Culp, Heather A. "Land Ethic Under Attack: Keystone XL and the War Over Domestic S(Oil)." *Environmental and Earth Law Journal* 3.1 (2013): 126-162. Print.
- Darmstadter, Joel and Hans H. Landsberg. "The Economic Background." *The Oil Crisis*. Ed. Raymond Vernon. New York: W.W. Norton & Co., 1976. 15-38. Print.

- Debeir, Jean Claude, Jean-Paul Deléage, and Daniel Hémery. *In the Servitude of Power: Energy and Civilization Through the Ages*. Trans. John Barzman. London and New Jersey: Zed Books, 1991. Print.
- Dodd, Susan. The Ocean Ranger: Remaking the Promise of Oil. Halifax: Fernwood, 2012. Print.
- Dorow, Sara. "Gendering energy extraction in Fort McMurray." *Democracy and Governance in a Global North Oil Economy*. Ed. L. Stefanick and M. Shrivastava. Athabasca: Athabasca University Press, forthcoming. Print.
- Dorow, Sara and S. O'Shaughnessy. "Fort McMurray, Wood Buffalo, and the oil/tar sands: Revisiting the sociology of 'community." *Canadian Journal of Sociology* 38.2 (2013): 121-140. Print.
- Foster, John Bellamy. "The Fossil Fuels War." Monthly Review 65.4 (2013): 1-14. Print.
- ---. "Peak Oil and Energy Imperialism." Monthly Review 60.3 (2008): 12-33. Print.
- Gordon, Jon. *Unsustainable Oil: Facts, Counterfacts, and Fictions*. Edmonton: UofA P, 2016. Print.
- Hein, Carola. "Global Landscapes of Oil." *New Geographies 2: Landscapes of Energy*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2009. 67-74. Print.
- Hoberg, George. "The Battle Over Oil Sands Access to Tidewater: A Political Risk Analysis of Pipeline Alternatives." *Canadian Public Policy* 39.3 (2013): 371-91. Print.
- Hoberg, George, Andrea Rivers, and Geoff Salomons. "Comparative Pipeline Politics: Oil Sands Pipeline Controversies in Canada and the United States." *Canadian Political Science Association annual meeting*, 12-15 Jun. 2012, Edmonton, AB. PDF.
- Hopkins, Rob. *The Transition Handbook: From Oil Dependency to Local Resilience*. n.d. Web. 11 May 2016.
- Hornborg, Alf. "The Fossil Interlude: Euro-American Power and the Return of the Physiocrats." *Cultures of Energy*. Eds. S. Rupp, and T. Love S. Strauss. Walnut Creek: Left Coast Press, 2013. 49-51. Print.
- Huber, Matt. "Energy, environment and the geopolitical imagination." *Political Geography* 31.6 (2012): 402-403. Print.
- ---. *Lifeblood: Oil, Freedom, and the Forces of Capital*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2013. Print.
- ---. "Refined Politics: Petroleum Products, Neoliberalism, and the Ecology of Entrepreneurial Life." *Journal of American Studies* 46.2 (2014): 295-312. Print.

- ---. "What Do We Mean by 'Energy Policy?' Life, Capitalism, and the Broader Field of Energy Politics." *State of Nature* 4 May 2013. Web.
- ---. "Oil, Life, and the Fetishism of Geopolitics." *Capitalism Nature Socialism* 22.3 (2011): 32-48. Print.
- Karl, Terry. *The Paradox of Plenty: Oil Booms and Petro-States*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1997. Print.
- Kristoferson, Lars. "Energy in Society." Ambio 2.6 (1973): 178-185. Print.
- Lovell, Bryan. *Challenged By Carbon: The Oil Industry and Climate Change*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010. Print.
- Lucier, Paul. Scientists and Swindlers: Consulting on Coal and Oil in America, 1820-1890. Baltimore: The John Hopkins University Press, 2008. Print.
- Luong, Pauline and Erica Weintal. *Oil is Not a Curse*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010. Print.
- Malm, Andreas. Fossil Capital: The Rise of Steam Power and the Roots of Global Warming. New York: Verso, 2016. Print.
- ---. "The Origins of Fossil Capital: From Water to Steam in the British Cotton Industry." *Historical Materialism* 21.1 (2013): 15-68. Print.
- Marriott, James and Mika Minio-Paluello. *The Oil Road: Journeys from the Caspian Sea to the City of London*. London: Verso, 2012. Print.
- Marsden, William. Stupid To the Last Drop: How Alberta is Bringing Environmental Armageddon to Canada (And Doesn't Seem to Care). Toronto: Knopf, 2008. Print.
- Merrill, Karen R. "Texas Metropole: Oil, the American West, and US Power in the Postwar Years." *Oil in American History* 99.1 (2012): 197-207. Print.
- Midnight Oil Collective. *Midnight Oil: Work, Energy, War, 1973-1992.* New York: Autonomedia, 1992. Print.
- Mirowski, Philip. *More Heat Than Light*. Cambridge: University of Cambridge Press, 1990. Print.
- Mitchell, Timothy. "Carbon Democracy." Economy and Society 38.3 (2009): 399-432. Print.
- ---. Carbon Democracy: Political Power in the Age of Oil. London: Verso, 2011. Print.

- Mommer, Bernard. *Global Oil and the Nation State*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002. Print.
- Nef, J.U. The Rise of the British Coal Industry. London: Archon Books, 1966. Print.
- Nikiforuk, Andrew. *The Energy of Slaves: Oil and the New Servitude*. Vancouver: Greystone, 2012. Print.
- ---. Tar Sands: Dirty Oil and the Future of a Continent. Vancouver: Greystone, 2010. Print.
- Noga, Jacqueline and Gregor Wolbring. "The Oil and Gas Discourse from the Perspective of the Canadian and Albertan Governments, Non-Governmental Organizations and the Oil and Gas Industry." *Energies* 7 (2014): 314-33. Print.
- Noreng, O. Crude Power: Politics and the Oil Market. London: Taurus, 2005. Print.
- Nye, David E. *Electrifying America: Social Meanings of a New Technology*. Cambridge: MIT Press, 1990. Print.
- Odum, Howard T. "Energy, Ecology, and Economics." Ambio 2.6 (1973): 220-227. Print.
- Olien, Diana Davids and Roger M. Olien. *Oil in Texas: The Gusher Age 1895-1945*. Austin: University of Texas Press, 2002. Print.
- Platform London. "Energy Beyond Neoliberalism." PDF.
- Podobnik, Bruce. *Global Energy Shifts: Fostering Sustainability in a Turbulent Age*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 2006. Print.
- Podobnik, Bruce. "Toward a Sustainable Energy Regime: A Long-Wave Interpretation of Global Energy Shifts." *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 62 (1999): 155-72. Print.
- Pratt, Joseph. "The Petroleum Industry in Transition: Antitrust and the Decline of Monopoly Control in Oil." *Journal of Economic History* 40.4 (1980): 815-37. Print.
- Rabinbach, Anson. *The Human Motor: Energy, Fatigue, and the Origins of Modernity*. Berkeley: University of California Press, 1992. Print.
- Renshaw, Edward F. "The Substitution of Inanimate Energy Power for Animal Power." *Journal of Political Economy* 71.3 (1963): 284-292. Print.
- Ross, Michael. *The Oil Curse: How Petroleum Wealth Shapes the Development of Nations*. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2012. Print.

- Sabin, Paul. *Crude Politics: The California Oil Market, 1900-1940.* Berkeley: University of California Press, 2005. Print.
- Sagan, Eric D. Schneider and Dorion. *Into the Cool: Energy Flow, Thermodynamics, and Life.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 2005. Print.
- Sampson, Anthony. *The Seven Sisters: The Great Oil Companies and the World They Shaped.* New York: Bantam Books, 1975. Print.
- Sawyer, Suzana. "Fictions of Sovereignty: Of Prosthetic Petro-capitalism, Neoliberal States, and Phantom-like Citizens in Ecuador." *The Journal of Latin American Anthropology* 6.1 (2011): 156-197. Print.
- Scheer, Hermann. *The Solar Economy: Renewable Energy for a Sustainable Global Future*. London: Earthscan, 2004. Print.
- Shove, Elizabeth and Gordon Walker. "What is Energy For? Social Practice and Energy Demand." *Theory, Culture & Society* 31.5 (2014): 41-58. Print.
- Shaffer, Brenda. Energy Politics. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press, 2009. Print.
- Shrivastava, Meenal, and Lorna Stefanick, eds. *Alberta Oil and the Decline of Democracy in Canada*. Edmonton, AB: AU Press. PDF.
- ---. "Do Oil and Democracy Only Clash in the Global South?: Petro Politics in Alberta, Canada." *New Global Studies* 6.1 (2012): 1-27. Print.
- Smil, Vaclav. *Energy Transitions: History, Requirements, Prospects*. Westport, CT: Praeger, 2010. Print.
- ---. Energies: An Illustrated Guide to the Biosphere and Civilization. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1999. Print.
- ---. Oil: A Beginner's Guide. Oxford: Oneworld Publications, 2008. Print.
- Sørensen, Bent. A History of Energy: Northern Europe from the Stone Age to the Present Day. Abingdon: Earthscan, 2012. Print.
- Strauss, Sarah, Stephanie Rupp, and Thomas Love, eds. *Cultures of Energy: Power, Practices, Technologies*. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press, 2013. Print.
- Suzuki, David. The Carbon Manifesto. 2013. Web.
- Tanuro, Daniel. "Marxism, Energy, and Ecology: The Moment of Truth." *Capitalism Nature Socialism* 21.4 (2010): 89-101. Print.

- Tinker Salas, Miguel. *The Enduring Legacy: Oil, Culture, and Society in Venezuela*. Durham: Duke University Press, 2009. Print.
- Truscello, Michael and Uri Gordon. "Whose Streets? Anarchism, Technology and the Petromodern State." 21.1 *Anarchist Studies* (2013): 9-27. Print.
- Turner, Terisa and Leigh Brownhill. "Why Women Are at War with Chevron: Nigerian Subsistence Struggles against the International Oil Industry." *Journal of Asian and African Studies* 39.1-2 (2004): 63-93. Print.
- Urry, John. "Carbon Capitalism and the Problem of Energy." *Journal of Globalization Studies* 4.1 (2013): 78-83. Print.
- ---. Offshoring. Cambridge: Polity, 2014. Print.
- ---. "The Problem of Energy." Theory, Culture & Society 31.5 (2014): 3-20. Print.
- ---. Societies Beyond Oil: Oil Dregs and Social Futures. London: Zed Books, 2013. Print.
- Watts, Michael. "Antinomies of Community: Some Thoughts on Geography, Resources and Empire." *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 29.2 (2004): 195-216. Print.
- ---. "Blood Oil: The Anatomy of a Petro-Insurgency in the Niger Delta, Nigeria." *Crude Domination: An Anthropology of Oil.* Eds. Andrea Berhrends and Stephen P. Reyna. New York: Berghan Books, 2011. 49-80. Print.
- ---. "Resource curse? Governmentality, Oil and Power in the Niger Delta, Nigeria." *Geopolitics* 9.1 (2004): 50-80. Print.
- Watts, Michael and Ed Kashi. *Curse of the Black Gold*. New York: powerHouse books, 2008. Print.
- Yergin, Daniel. *The Prize: The Epic Quest for Oil, Money, and Power*. New York: Simon and Schuster, 1991. Print.
- ---. The Quest: Energy, Security, and the Remaking of the Modern World. New York: Penguin, 2011. Print.
- Youngs, Robert. "Every Age, the Age of Wood." *Interdisciplinary Science Review* 7.3 (1998): 211-219. Print.
- Zalik, Anna. "Oil futures': Shell Scenarios and the Social Constitution of the Oil Market." *Geoforum* 41 (2010): 553-564. Print.

iii. Philosophy

- Coopersmith, Jennifer. *Energy, the Subtle Concept: The Discovery of Feynman's Blocks from Leibniz to Einstein*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010. Print.
- Stoekl, Alan. *Bataille's Peak: Energy, Religion, and Postsustainability*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2007. Print.

II. Energy and Indigeneity

i. Indigenous Literature and Oral Traditions Relating to the Concept of Energy

- Bear, Robert, Henry Bear, William Joseph, and John Applecotte. *Cree Legends*. S.l.: S.n.; 1970. Print.
- Beardy, Flora, and Coutts, Robert. *Voices from Hudson Bay: Cree Stories from York Factory*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's UP, 1996. Print. Canadian Electronic Library. Books Collection.
- Bird, Louis, and Susan Elaine Gray. *The Spirit Lives in the Mind: Omushkego Stories, Lives, and Dreams*. Montreal; Ithaca: McGill-Queen's UP, 2007. Print.
- Bird, Louis., Jennifer S. H. Brown, Anne Lindsay, Paul W. DePasquale, Roland Bohr, Donna G. Sutherland, and Mark F. Ruml. *Telling Our Stories: Omushkego Legends and Histories from Hudson Bay.* Peterborough, Ont.: Broadview, 2005. Print.
- Blondin, George. *Trail of the Spirit: The Mysteries of Medicine Power Revealed.* Edmonton, NeWest Press, 2006.
- ---. Yamoria the Lawmaker: Stories of the Dene. 1st ed. Edmonton: NeWest, 1997. Print.
- ---. When the World Was New: Stories of the Sahtu Dene. Yellowknife, N.W.T.: Outcrop, the Northern, 1990. Print.
- Bloomfield, Leonard. *Sacred Stories of the Sweet Grass Cree*. New York: AMS, 1976. Print. Bulletin (National Museum of Canada). Anthropological Ser.; No. 11.
- Clay, Charles, and Kuskapatchees. *Swampy Cree Legends*. 2nd ed. Bewdley, ON.: Pine Ridge Publications, 1978. Print.
- Clements, Marie. Burning Vision. Vancouver: Talonbooks, 2003. Print.
- Dion, Joseph F., Hugh Aylmer Dempsey, and Glenbow Museum. *My Tribe, the Crees*. Calgary: Glenbow Museum, 1979. Print.

- Fiddler, Thomas., and James R. Stevens. *Killing the Shamen*. Moonbeam, ON: Penumbra, 1985. Print.
- ---. Legends from the Forest. Moonbeam, ON: Penumbra, 1985. Print.
- Goulet, Jean-Guy. *Ways of Knowing: Experience, Knowledge, and Power Among the Dene Tha.* Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1998. Print.
- Hogan, Linda. Mean Spirit. New York: Ivy Books, 1991. Print.
- Holland, Lynda, Celina Janvier, and Larry Hewitt. *The Dene Elders Project: Stories and History from the Westside*. La Ronge, Sask.: Holland-Dalby Educational Consulting, 2001. Print.
- Johnston, Basil. *The Manitous: The Spiritual World of the Ojibway*. 1st ed. New York: HarperCollins, 1995. Print.
- Kakinya, Elijah., Simon Paneak, Helge Ingstad, Knut Bergsland, Alaska Native Language Center, and North Slope Borough Commission on Iñupiat History, Language, Culture. *Nunamiut Unipkaanich = Nunamiut Stories*. Barrow: North Slope Borough Commission on Iñupiat History, Language and Culture, 1987. Print.
- King, Thomas. Green Grass, Running Water. New York: Bantam Books, 1994. Print.
- ---. Truth and Bright Water. Toronto: Harper Flamingo Canada, 1999. Print.
- Rabesca, Marie Adele, Martha Johnson, Joan Ryan, and Dene Cultural Institute. *Traditional Dene Medicine*. Lac La Marte, N.W.T.: Dene Cultural Institute, 1993. Print.
- Ray, Carl and James R. Stevens. *Sacred Legends of the Sandy Lake Cree*. Toronto: McClelland and Stewart, 1971. Print.
- Silko, Leslie Marmon. Ceremony. New York: Penguin, 1986. Print.
- Simpson, Leanne Betosamosake. *Dancing on Our Turtle's Back: Stories of Nishnaabeg Re-Creation, Resurgence, and a New Emergence*. Winnipeg: Arbeiter Ring Publishers, 2011. Print.
- Wachowich, Nancy, Apphia A. Awa, Rhoda K. Katsak, and Sandra P. Katsak. *Saqiyuq: Stories from the Lives of Three Inuit Women*. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press, 1999. Print.
- Van Camp, Richard. "On the Wings of This Prayer" and "The Fleshing." *Godless but Loyal to Heaven*. Winnipeg: Enfield & Wizenty, 2012. Print.

ii. Theory and Activist Writing by Indigenous Thinkers

- Armstrong, Jeannette. "Constructing Indigeneity: Syilx Okanagan Oraliture and tmixwcentrism." PhD Dissertation, University of Greifswald, Germany. 2010. Print.
- Kawagley, A O. *A Yupiaq Worldview: A Pathway to Ecology and Spirit*. Prospect Heights, Ill: Waveland Press, 1995. Print.
- LaDuke, Winona. *All Our Relations: Native Struggles for Land and Life*. Cambridge, Mass.: South End, 1999. Print.
- ---. Recovering the Sacred: The Power of Naming and Claiming. Cambridge, MA: South End, 2005. Print.
- ---. "Indigenous Power: A New Energy Economy." *Race, Poverty & the Environment* 13.1 (2006): 6-10. Print.
- ---. "The Indigenous Perspective on Feminism, Militarism and the Environment." *Race, Poverty & the Environment* 4/5.4/1 (1994): 7. Print
- ---. *The Winona LaDuke Reader: A Collection of Essential Writings*. Penticton, B.C.: Theytus, 2002. Print.
- ---. "Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Environmental Futures." *Colorado Journal of International Environmental Law and Policy* 5.1 (1994): 127-48. Print.
- ---. "War of the rices: Native Americans struggle to keep wild rice wild." *East West.* June 1991: 58+. *Health Reference Center Academic*. Web. 15 June 2015.
- Manuel, Art. *Unsettling Canada: A National Wake-up Call*. Toronto: Between the Lines Press, 2015. Print.
- Silko, Leslie Marmon. "Interior and Exterior Landscapes: The Pueblo Migration Stories." *Speaking for the Generations: Native Writers on Writing.* Ed. Simon J. Ortiz. Tucson: University of Arizona Press, 1998. 2-24. Print.
- Simpson, Leanne Betosamosake. "Land as pedagogy: Nishnaabeg Intelligence and Rebellious Transformation." *Decolonization: Indigeneity, Education & Society* Vol. 3, No. 3, 2014.1-25. Print.
- Smith, Linda Tuhiwai. *Decolonizing Methodologies: Research and Indigenous People*. 2nd Ed. New York: Zed Books, 2012. Print.

iii. Criticism and Cultural Analysis

- Altamirano-Jiménez, Isabel. *Indigenous Encounters with Neoliberalism: Place, Women, and the Environment in Canada and Mexico.* Vancouver, UBC Press, 2013. Print.
- Anca Farca, Paula. Energy in Literature: Essays on energy and its social and environmental implications in twentieth and twenty-first century literary texts. Oxford: Trueheart Academic, 2015. Print.
- Archibald-Barber, Jesse. "Trick of the Aesthetic Apocalypse: Ethics of Loss and Restoration in Thomas King's Truth and Bright Water." *The Canadian Journal of Native Studies* 29.1 (2009): 237-55. *ProQuest.* Web. 11 Apr. 2016.
- Caldecott, J. Baird and Michael P. Nelson. *American Indian Environmental Ethics: An Ojibwa Case Study*. New York: Pearson, 2003. Print
- Carew-Miller, Anna. "Caretaking and the Work of the Text in Linda Hogan's Mean Spirit." *Studies in American Indian Literatures* 6.3 (1994): 37-48. Print.
- Cariou, Warren. "Laughing and Learning with Weesakeejak: Cree Environmental Philosophy in Canada's Oil Sands Region." Despite Harper: International Perceptions of Canadian Literature and Culture. Warsaw: Kovacs Publishers, 2014. 76-91. Print.
- ---. "Aboriginal." Fueling Culture: 101 Words For Energy and Environment. Eds. Imre Szeman, Jennifer Wenzel and Patricia Yeager. Fordham University Press. Forthcoming 2017. Print.
- Christie, Stuart. *Plural Sovereignties and Contemporary Indigenous Literature*. London: Palgrave McMillan, 2009. Print.
- Cox, James H. "All This Water Imagery Must Mean Something': Thomas King's Revisions of Narratives of Domination and Conquest in 'Green Grass, Running Water'." *American Indian Quarterly* 24.2 (2000): 219-46. Web.
- Gordon, Jon, and Warren Cariou. "Petrography, the Tar Sands Paradise, and the Medium of Modernity." *The Goose: A Journal of Arts, Environment and Culture.* 14.2 (2016): n.p. PDF.
- Findlay, Len. "Always Indigenize! The Radical Humanities in the Postcolonial Canadian University." *Ariel: A Review of International Literature* 31.1-2 (2000). 307-26. Print.
- Legat, Allice. Walking the Land, Feeding the Fire: Knowledge and Stewardship among the *Tłicho Dene*. Tucson: U of Arizona, 2012. Print.

- Mayer, Evelyn P. Narrating North American Borderlands Thomas King, Howard F. Mosher and *Jim Lynch*. Frankfurt: Peter Lang GmbH, Internationaler Verlag Der Wissenschaften, 2014. Web.
- Mihuesua, Devon and Angela Wilson, eds. *Indigenizing the Academy: Transforming Scholarship and Empowering Communities.* Lincoln, NE: Bison Books, 2004. Print.
- Rainwater, Catherine. "Intertextual Twins and Their Relations: Linda Hogan's Mean Spirit and Solar Storms." *MFS Modern Fiction Studies* 45.1 (1999): 93-113. Print.
- Schweninger, Lee. *Listening to the Land: Native American Literary Responses to the Landscape.* Atlanta: University of Georgia Press, 2008. Print.
- Suzack, Cheryl. "Land Claims, Identity Claims: Mapping Indigenous Feminism in Literary Criticism and in Winona LaDuke's *Last Standing Woman*." *Reasoning Together: The Native Critics' Circle*. Eds. Craig Womack et al. Norman: University of Oklahoma, 2008. 169-192. Print.
- Thestar.com/Canadian Press. "Canada is back,' says Trudeau in Paris. 'We're here to help." *The Toronto Star.* 30 Nov. 2015. Web. 20 Apr. 2016.
- Westman, Clinton. "Cautionary Tales: Making and Breaking Community in the Oil Sands Region." *The Canadian Journal of Sociology / Cahiers canadiens de Sociologie* 38.2 (April 2013): 211-231. Print.
- Zamir, Shamoon. "Literature in a 'National Sacrifice Area: Leslie Silko's *Ceremony*" *New Voices in Native American Literary Criticism*, Ed. Arnold Krupat. Washinton, D.C., Smithsonian, 1993. 396-415. Print.

iv. Traditional Ecological Knowledge (TEK)

- Ayers, Harvard, Harman, Dave, and Pennington, London. *Arctic Gardens: Voices from an Abundant Land.* Boone, N.C.: Arctic Voices, 2010. Print.
- Berkes, Fikret. *Sacred ecology: traditional ecological knowledge and resource management.* Philadelphia: Taylor and Francis, 1999. Print.
- Brant Castellano, Marlene. "Updating aboriginal traditions of knowledge." *Indigenous knowledges in global contexts: multiple readings of our world.* Eds. G. J. Sefa Dei, B. L. Hall, and D. Goldin. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2000. 21-36. Print.
- Freeman, Milton M. R. *Inuit, Whaling, and Sustainability*. Walnut Creek, CA: AltaMira Press, 1998. Print.

- Johnson, Martha, Ruttan, R. A, and Dene Cultural Institute. *Traditional Dene Environmental Knowledge: A Pilot Project Conducted in Ft. Good Hope and Colville Lake, N.W.T.*, 1989-1993. Hay River, N.W.T.: Dene Cultural Institute, 1993. Print.
- Jones, Anore. Plants That We Eat: Nauriat Nigiñaqtuat; from the Traditional Wisdom of the Iñupiat Elders of Northwest Alaska. 2nd ed. Fairbanks, AK: U of Alaska, 2010. Print.
- Lourie, Peter. *Arctic Thaw: The People of the Whale in a Changing Climate.* Honesdale, Penn.: Boyds Mills, 2010. Print.
- McGregor, Deborah. "Traditional Ecological Knowledge." *Ideas: the Arts and Science Review* 3.1 (spring 2006). Faculty of Arts & Science, University of Toronto. Print.
- ---. "Coming Full Circle: Indigenous Knowledge, Environment, and Our Future." *The American Indian Quarterly* 28.3&4 (2004) 385-410. Print.
- ---. "Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Sustainable Development: Towards Coexistence." *The way of Development: Indigenous Peoples, Life Projects and Globalization.* Eds. Mario Blaser et al. New York: Zed Books, 2004. Print.
- Usher, Peter J. "Traditional ecological knowledge in environmental assessment and management." *Arctic* 53.2 (2008): 183-193. Print.
- Uprety, Yadav, et al. "Contribution of Traditional Knowledge to Ecological Restoration: Practices and Applications." *Ecoscience* 19.3 (2012): 225-237. Print.
- Wenzel, George W. "From TEK to IQ: *Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit* and Inuit cultural ecology." *Arctic Anthropology* 42.2 (2004): 238-250. Print.

v. Film and New Media

- A Future Without Oil. Dir. Laetitia Moreau. National Film Board of Canada, 2010. Web Video. 12 Apr. 2016.
- Bird, Louis. *Omushkego Oral History Project. ourvoices.ca*. The University of Winnipeg, 2016. Web. 12 Apr. 2016.
- Blockadia Rising: Voices from the Tar Sands Blockade. Dir. Garrett Graham. 2013. Film.
- Brave New River. Dir. Nicolas Renauld. Producer Doda Dernegi. 2013. Film.
- Damocracy. Dir. Todd Southgate. 2013. Film.
- *Inuit Knowledge and Climate Change.* Dir. Zacharias Kunuk and Ian Mauro. Isuma TV, 2010. DVD.

- Fractured Land. Dir. Damien Gillis and Fiona Rayner. Two Island Films, 2015. Film.
- *Kahsatstenhsera: Indigenous Resistance to Tar Sands Pipelines.* Dir. N/A. Producers Amanda Liches/Reclaim Turtle Island and subMedia.tv, 2013. DVD.
- Land of Oil and Water: Indigenous Voices in Canada's Oil Sands. Dir. Warren Cariou and Neil McArthur. Winnipeg Film Group, 2009. Film.
- Never Alone: Kisima Innitchuna. Cook Inlet Tribal Council and Upper One Games. Neveralonegame.com, 2014. Video Game.
- Sainte-Marie, Buffy. *Power in the Blood*. True North Records, 2015. MP3.
- Techquaikachi: Aboriginal Warning: Indigenous Resistance Against Oil and Mining. Dir. Alan Gorg. 2010. Film.
- *The People of the Kattawapiskak River*. Dir. Alanis Obomsawin. National Film Board of Canada, 2012. Web Video. 12 Apr. 2016.
- Tungijuq. Dir. Tanya Tagaq and Zacharias Kunuk. Isuma TV, 2009. Web. 12 Apr. 2016.
- Uranium. Dir. Magnus Isaacsson. National Film Board of Canada. 1990. Film.
- Yellow Fever: The Navajo Uranium Documentary Film. Dir. Sophie Rousmaniere. 2013. Film.

III. Energy and Social Media

i. Energy and Social Media

- Castri, Roberta, et al. "Favouring behavioural change of households' energy consumption through social media and cooperative play." Submission for BEHAVE 2014 theme "Gamification and social media"
- Delina, Laurence L, Mark Diesendorf, and John Merson. "Strengthening the climate action movement: strategies from histories." *Carbon Management* (2015): 1-31. Preprint.
- de Waal, Renée, Annet Kempenaar, Ron van Lammeren and Sven Stremke. "Application of social media in a regional design competition: a case study in the Netherlands." Conference paper.
- Dorfman, Paul, Ingrid Prikken, and Simon Burall. "Future national energy mix scenarios: public engagement processes in the EU and elsewhere." European Economic and Social Committee (EESC). PDF.

- Feola, Giuseppe and Anisa Butt. "The diffusion of grassroots innovations for sustainability in Italy and Great Britain: an exploratory spatial data analysis." *The Geographic Journal* (2015): 1-18. PDF.
- Griffith, Benjamin E. "Beyond Fracking Wars: The International Community's Response." American Bar Association Section of State & Local Government Law. PDF.
- Heinonen, Sirkka. "Neo-Growth in Future Post-Carbon Cities." *Journal of Future Studies* 18.1 (2013): 13-40. Print.
- Heiskanen, Eva et al. "Low-carbon communities as a context for individual behavioural change." *Energy Policy* 38 (2010): 7586-7595. Print.
- Hopke, Jill E. "Hashtagging Politics: Transational Anti-Fracking Movement Twitter Practices." Social Media + Society (July-December 2015): 1-12. Print.
- Kahn, N., S. Rauf, N. Abas, and A. Kalair. "A specter of logical challenges haunts smart grid." International Journal of Smart Grid and Clean Energy 2.3 (October 2013): 383-397. PDF.
- Lehrer, David and Janani Vasudev. "Evaluating a Social Media Application for Sustainability in the Workplace." *CHI2011*, May 7–12, 2011, Vancouver, BC, Canada.
- Lehrer, David, Janani Vasudev, and Soazig Kaam. "Evaluating a Social Media Application for Conserving Energy and Improving Operations in Commercial Buildings." *CHI2011*, May 7–12, 2011, Vancouver, BC, Canada.
- Louw, Marina, and Jolynn Minnaar. "Fracking the Karoo." *E-jolt Report: Towards a Post-Oil Civilization* 6 (May 2013): 104-111. PDF.
- Muralidharan, Sidharth, Kristie Dillistone, and Jae-Hwa Shin. "The Gulf Coast oil spill: Extending the theory of image restoration discourse to the realm of social media and beyond petroleum." *Public Relations Review* 37 (2011): 226-232. PDF.
- Petkov, Petromil, Felix Köbler, Marcus Foth, and Helmut Krcmar. "Motivating domestic energy conservation through comparative, community-based feedback in mobile and social media." In: *5th International Conference on Communities & Technologies* (C&T 2011), 29 June 2 July 2011, Brisbane.
- Tolbert, Allison et al. "A 'Twitter' Generation Perspective on Biorefining." *Biofpr: Biofuels, Bioproducts, and Biorefining* (November 2013): 629-633. PDF.
- Trevisan, Bianka, Denise Eraßme, and Eva-Maria Jakobs. "Web comment-based trend analysis on deep geothermal energy." Conference Paper. 2013. PDF.

van der Schoor, Tineke, and Bert Scholtens. "Power to the people: Local community initiatives and the transition to sustainable energy." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 43 (2015): 666-675. PDF.

ii. Climate Change and Social Media

- Neelima, B.N. and R. Uttama Reddy. "Mass Media and Climate Change." *International Journal of Research* 1.2 (2014): 1-14. PDF.
- Nisbet, Matthew C. "Communicating Climate Change: Why Frames Matter for Public Engagement." *Environment Magazine* 51.2 (March/April 2009): 14-23. PDF.
- Østergaard, Maja. "Strategic climate change communication: The European Wind Energy Association in a discourse strategy trap." University of Stirling and Lund University, 2015.Lund Thesis. PDF.
- Porter, Amanda J. and Lina Hellsten. "Investigating Participatory Dynamics Through Social Media Using a Multideterminant 'Frame' Approach: The Case of Climategate on YouTube." *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 19 (2014): 1024-1021. Print.
- Senbel, Maged, Victor Douglas, Erik Blair. "Social mobilization of climate change: University students conserving energy through multiple pathways for peer engagement." *Journal of Environmental Psychology* 38 (2014): 84-93. Print.

iii. Social Media, Participation, and Activism

- Barney, Darin. *Community in the Digital Age: Philosophy and Practice*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2004. Print.
- Bazzichelli, Tatiana. Networked Disruption: Rethinking Oppositions in Art, Hacktivism, and the Business of Social Networking. Aarhus: Digital Aesthetics Research Centre, 2013. PDF.
- Boler, Megan, ed. *Digital media and Democracy: Tactics in Hard Times*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2008. Print.
- Boyd, Danah and Nicole Ellison. "Social Network Sites: Definition, History, and Scholarship." *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication* 13.1 (2007): 210–230. Print.
- Burgess, Jean, and Joshua Green. *YouTube: Online Video and Participatory Culture*. Malden, MA: Polity, 2013. Print.
- Butler, Mary. "Clicktivism, Slacktivism, or 'real' Activism? Cultural Codes of American Activism in the Internet Era. Thesis. University of Colorado, 2011. Print.

- Christensen, Henrik Serup. "Political activities on the Internet: Slacktivism or political participation by other means?" *First Monday* 16.2 (2011): n.p. HTML.
- Couldry, Nick and James Curran. *Contesting Media Power: Alternative Media in a Networked World*. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield, 2003. Print.
- Dean, Jodi. *Blog Theory: Feedback and Capture in the Circuits of Drive*. Cambridge: Polity, 2010. Print.
- ---. "Communicative capitalism: circulation and the foreclosure of politics." *Cultural Politics* 1.1 (2005): 51-74. Print.
- ---. Democracy and Other Neoliberal Fantasies: Communicative Capitalism & Left Politics. Durham: Duke UP, 2009.
- ---. Publicity's Secret: How Technoculture Capitalizes on Democracy. Ithaca, NY: Cornell UP, 2002. Print.
- Elmer, Greg. *Profiling Machines: Mapping the Personal Information Economy*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2004. EPUB.
- Freelon, Deen. "Online Civic Activism: Where Does It Fit?" *Policy & Internet* 6.2 (June 2014): 192-198. Print.
- Guillory, John. "Genesis of the Media Concept." *Critical Inquiry* 36 (Winter 2010): 321-362. Print.
- Guo, Chao and Gregory D. Saxton. "Tweeting Social Change: How Social Media are Changing Nonprofit Advocacy." *Non-profits and Voluntary Sector Quarterly* (2012): 1-23. PDF.
- Halupka, Max. "Clicktivism: A Systematic Heuristic." *Policy & Internet* 6.2 (June 2014): 115-132. Print.
- Kahn, Richard and Douglas M. Kellner. "Oppositional Politics and the Internet: A Critical/Reconstructive Approach." *Cultural Politics* 1.1 (2005): 75-100. Print.
- Loader, B. D., and D. Mercea, eds. *Social Media and Democracy: Innovations in Participatory Politics*. New York: Routledge, 2012. Print.
- Lovink, Geert. *Networks Without a Cause: A Critique of Social Media*. Cambridge: Polity, 2012. Print.
- Lyon, Thomas P. and A. Wren Montgomery. "Tweetjacked: The Impact of Social Media on Corporate Greenwash." Unpublished Paper. PDF.

- Mercea, Dan. "Digital prefigurative participation: The entwinement of online communication and offline participation in protest events" *New Media & Society* 14.1 (2012): 153-169. Print.
- Miller, David. "Nonprofit Organizations and the Emerging Potential of Social Media and Internet Resources" *SPNHA Review* 6.1 (2011): 34-52. Print.
- Rotman, Dana et al. "From Slacktivism to Activism: Participatory Culture in the Age of Social Media." *Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2011. 819-822. ACM Digital Library. Web. 31 Jan. 2015.
- Sluban, Borut, Jasmina Smailović, Stefano Battiston, and Igor Mozetič. "Sentiment leaning of influential communities in social networks." *Computational Social Networks* 2.9 (Dec. 2015): n.p. PDF.
- Soep, Elisabeth. *Participatory Politics: Next-Generation Tactics to Remake Public Spheres.* Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 2014. Print.
- Taylor, Astra. *The People's Platform: Taking Back Power and Culture in the Digital Age.* New York: Metropolitan Books, 2014. Print.
- Terracina-Hartman, Carol, Brian Bienkowski, Michael Myers, and Shaheen Kanthawala. "Social media for environmental action: what prompts engagement and intent toward activism?" Unpublished paper. PDF.
- Terranova, Tiziana. *Network Culture: Politics for the Information Age*. Ann Arbor, MI: Pluto Press, 2004. Print.
- Treré, Emiliano. "Social Movements as Information Ecologies: Exploring the Coevolution of Multiple Internet Technologies for Activism." *International Journal of Communication* 6 (2012): 2359-2377. Print.
- Tufekci, Zeynep. "The Medium and the Movement: Digital Tools, Social Movement Politics, and the End of the Free Rider Problem." *Policy & Internet* 6.2 (June 2014): 202-208. Print.
- Uldam, Julie and Anne Vestergaard, eds. *Civic Engagement and Social Media*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2015. Print.
- Uldam, Julie and Anne Vestergaard. "Introduction: Social Media and Civic Engagement." *Civic Engagement and Social Media*. Eds. Julie Uldam and Anne Vestergaard. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2015. 1-20. Print.
- van Dijk, José. *The Culture of Connectivity: A Critical History of Social Media*. Oxford: Oxford UP, 2013. Print.

- Van Laer, J., and P. Van Aelst. "Internet and Social Movement Action Repertoires." *Information, Communication & Society* 13.8 (2010): 1146–71
- Vuković, Katarina Peović. "Democracy and Revolution on the Internet." *Crisis & Critique* 1.1 (2014): 91-115. Print
- Wark, McKenzie. *Telesthesia: Communication, Culture, and Class.* Cambridge: Polity, 2012. Print.
- Whelan, Glen, Jeremy Moon, and Bettina Grant. "Corporations and Citizenship Arenas in the Age of Social Media." *Journal of Business Ethics* 118.4 (2013): 777-790. Print.
- Williams, Kaylene C., Robert A. Page, Alfred R. Petrosky. "Green Sustainability and New Social Media." *Journal of Strategic Innovation and Sustainability* 9 (2014): 11-33. PDF.
- Youmans, W. L., and J. C. York. "Social media and the activist toolkit: User agreements, corporate interests, and the information infrastructure of modern social movements." *Journal of Communication* 62.2 (2012): 315–329. Print.
- Zuckerman, Ethan. "New Media, New Civics." *Policy & Internet* 6.2 (June 2014): 151-168.

 Print.

IV. Energy and Research-Creation

i. Film

a) Oil & Gas

Alberta. Dir. Meredith Danluck. TOXIC. VICE TV. June 2007.

Being Caribou. Dir. Leanne Allison and Diana Wilson. June 2005.

At Sea. Dir. Peter Hutton. 2007.

Blood and Oil. Dir. Jeremy Earp. 2008.

The Big Fix. Dir. Josh Tickell & Rebecca Harrell Tickell. June 2012.

A Crude Awakening. Dir. Basil Gelpke, Raymond McCormack a& Reto Caduff, May 2006.

Crude: The Incredible Journey of Oil. Dir. Richard Smith. ABC Science. May 2007.

Crude: The Real Price of Oil. Dir. Joe Berlinger. Jan. 2009.

Elemental. Dir. Emmanuel Vaughan-Lee and Gayatri Roshan. Oct. 2012.

Fuel. Dir. Josh Tickell. Jan. 2008.

Gas Hole. Dir. Scott Roberts & Jeremy Wagener. April 2008.

GasLand. Dir. Josh Fox. Jan. 2010.

Gulf. Dir. Meredith Danluck. TOXIC. VICE TV. June 2010.

Hayneswille: A Nation's Hunt for an Energy Future. Dir. Gregory Kallenberg. Nov. 2009.

In the Kingdom of Oil and Millions. [Neft va milyonlar saltanatinda]. Dir. Boris Svetlov. May 1916.

A Journal of Crude Oil. [Caiyou riji]. Dir. Wang Bing. Jan. 2008.

The Killing Ground. Dir. Steve Singer. 1979.

Land of Oil and Water. Dir. Warren Cariou and Neil McArthur. May 2009.

Lenz, Garth. "The True Cost of Oil." TEDX TALK. TEDxVictoria. Nov. 2011.

Lessons of Darkness. Dir. Werner Herzog. 1992.

Manufactured Landscapes. Dir. Jennifer Baichwal. Sept. 2006.

The Oil Factor. Dir. Gerard Ungerman and Audrey Brohy. July 2005.

Oil on Ice. Dir. Bo Boudart and Dale Djerassi. May 2004.

Oil: Smoke and Mirrors. Dir. Ronan Boyle. Jan. 2007.

Petro-Mama: Mothering in a Crude World. Dir. Sheena Wilson. 2016.

Petropolis. Dir. Petter Mettler. 2009.

The Pipedreams Project. Dir. Faroe Des Roches and Ryan Vandecasteyen. 2011.

Split Estate. Dir. Debra Anderson. Aug. 2009.

SpOil. Dir. Trip Jennings. 2010.

Sweet Crude. Dir. Sandy Cioffi. June 2009.

Tipping Point: Age of the Oil Sands. Dir. Tom Radford and Niobe Thompson. The Nature of Things. CBC. January 2011.

Total Denial. Dir. Milena Kaneva. March 2006.

United Nations University. Oil Series. 2010.

White Water, Black Gold. Dir. David Lavallee. 2011.

Wiebo's War. Dir. David York. Oct. 2011.

b) Electric

Power Trip. Dir. Paul Devlin. Feb. 2003.

c) Coal

Before the Mountain Was Moved. Dir. Robert K. Sharpe. March 1970.

Broken Rainbow. Dir. Mario Florio and Victoria Mudd. 1985.

Burning the Future: Coal in America. Dir. David Novack. April 2008.

Harlan County, USA. Dir. Barbara Kopple. Oct. 1976.

The Hole Story. [Trou Story]. Dir. Richard Desjardins and Robert Monderie. Nov. 2011.

Journey to the End of Coal. Dir. Samuel Bollendorff and Abel Ségrétin. 2008. Interactive web documentary.

The Last Mountain. Dir. Bill Haney. Jan. 2011.

Mountaintop Removal. Dir. Michael Cusack O'Connell. Sept. 2007.

Sludge. Dir. Robert Salyer. 2005.

Westray. Dir. Paul Cowan. Sept. 2001.

West Virginia. Dir. Meredith Danluck. TOXIC. VICE TV. Aug. 2009.

d) Nuclear

Buried in Earthskin. Dir. Helena Kingwill. 2009.

Into Eternity. Dir. Michael Madsen. Jan. 2010.

Uranium: Is It a Country? Dir. Kirsten Schnatz. Nov. 2008.

White Horse. Dir Maryann DeLeo and Christophe Bisson. 2008.

e) Water & Hydroelectric

America's Water Crisis. Dir. Meredith Danluck. TOXIC. VICE TV. Nov. 2012.

Blue Gold: World Water Wars. Dir. Sam Bozzo. Oct. 2008.

Cadillac Desert. Dir. Jon Else and Linda Harrar. June 1997.

Chasing Water. Dir. Peter McBride. Sept. 2011. Yale Environment 360.

Dreamland. Dir. Þorfinnur Guðnason and Andri Snær Magnason. April 2009.

Drowned Out. Dir. Franny Armstrong. Aug. 2002.

Elemental. Dir. Emmanuel Vaughan-Lee and Gayatri Roshan. Oct. 2012.

Flow: For Love of Water. Dir. Irena Salina. Dec. 2011.

Hindsight and Foresight. Terra #534. Dir. Gary Shigenaka.

Last Call at the Oasis. Dir Jessica Yu. May 2012.

Liquid Assets: The Big Business of Water. CNBC Originals. Sep. 2010.

One Water. Dir. Sanjeev Chatterjee and Ali Habashi. Feb. 2008.

Poisoned Waters. Dir. Rick Young. PBS Frontline.

Running Dry. Dir. Jim Thebaut. 2005.

Sam. Dir. Aaron D. Weisblatt. 1986.

Semper Fi: Always Faithful. Dir. Tony Hardmon and Rachel Libert. April 2011.

Tapped. Dir. Stephanie Soechtig & Jason Lindsey. July 2009.

Thirst. Dir. Alan Snitow. June 2004.

Waterlife. Dir. Kevin McMahon. May 2009.

The Water Front. Dir. Liz Miller. Nov. 2007.

Water on the Table. Dir. Liz Marshall. March 2010.

The Water War. Dir. Licinio Azevedo. 1995.

f) Plastics & Waste

Addicted to Plastic. Dir. Ian Connacher. Oct. 2008.

Bag It: Is Your Life Too Plastic? Dir. Suzan Beraza. April 2010.

Into Eternity. Dir. Michael Madsen. Jan. 2010.

Garbage Island. Dir. Meredith Danluck. TOXIC. VICE TV. June 2008.

The Killing Ground. Dir. Steve Singer. 1979.

Midway. Dir. Chris Jordan. 2013.

Plastic Bag. Dir. Ramin Bahrani.

Plastic Paradise. Dir. Angela Sun. 2012.

Plastic Planet. Dir. Werner Boote. Sept. 2009.

Redemption. Dir. Jon Alpert and Matthew O'Neil. 2012.

Tar Creek. Dir. Matt Myers. Aug. 2009.

Trash Inc. CNBC Originals. Sept. 2010.

The Warriors of Qiugang. Dir. Ruby Yang. Sept. 2010.

g) Alternative energies

The Fourth Revolution: Energy. Dir. Carl-A. Fechner. March 2010.

h) Energy & Automobility

A Snow Mobile for George. Dir. Todd Darling. Jan. 2008.

Global Car. Dir. Dodge Billingsley. 2009.

Revenge of the Electric Car. Dir. Chris Paine. April 2011.

Who Killed the Electric Car? Dir. Chris Paine. Jan. 2006.

ii. Image (Social Practice, Activist, Performance, First Nations, Curation, Painting/Drawing, Interdisciplinary, Mixed Media, Graffiti, Photography)

Armas, Marcela. Estanque. [*Pond*]. "Projects | Marcela Armas." *Marcela Armas*. 2006. Web. 12 May 2016.

Beer, Ruth. Trading Routes. 2015. Web. 12 May 2016.

Bowers, Andrea. Mercy Mercy Me. Andrew Kreps Gallery, New York, 24 Oct.-23 Dec. 2009.

Burtynsky, Edward. *Oil*. Royal Ontario Museum Institute for Contemporary Culture, Toronto, 9 April-2 Sept. 2011.

Biemann, Ursula. "Black Sea Files. From Contested Zones of Mobility to Ecology and Deep Weather." *World of Matter*. Web. 12 May 2016.

Belmore, Rebecca. *Ayum-ee-aawach Oomama-mowan: Speaking to Their Mother*. Curated by Wanda Nanibush, Justina M. Barnicke Gallery, Toronto, 9 Aug. 2014.

Dion, Mark. The Tar Museum. Tanya Bonakdar Gallery, New York, 28 Feb-13 April 2013.

Feuer, Mia. Synthetic Seasons. Contemporary Art Gallery, Calgary, 23 May to 6 Sept. 2015

Durham, Jimmie. Sprovieri. Web. 12 May 2016.

Gabriel, Brandon. "Brandon Gabriel | aecdn." *Fraser Region Aboriginal Early Childhood Development Network.* Web. 12 May 2016.

Greenfort, Tue. "Exceeding 2 degrees," Tue Greenfort. 2007. Web. 12 May 2016.

Haacke, Hans. Recording of Climate in an Art Exhibition (1970). New York Cultural Centre, New York, 2009.

Hazoume, Romuald. Rat-Singer: second only to God! October Gallery London, London.

Helbig, Louis. Beautiful Destruction. Web. 12 May 2016.

Jungen, Brian. "Works." Catriona Jeffries. Web. 12 May 2016.

Juan, Andrea. "Antarctic Project." Andreajuan.net. Ongoing. Web. 12 May 2016.

Kashi, Ed. *The Curse of Black Gold*. Ed. Michael Watts. Brooklyn: Power House Books, 2010. Print.

King, J.P. "The Same River." *The Natural and the Manufactured*. Nov. 2012. Web. 12 May 2016.

Lane, Cal. "Fossil Fuel." Cal Lane. 2007. Web. 12 May 2016.

LaRiviere, David. "Come visit the Athabasca Tar Sands ... Canada's 8th wonder of the world!" Billboard, Saskatoon, 2012. Mendel Gallery.

Lenz, Garth. "The True Cost of Oil." Garth Lenz. Web. 12 May 2016.

Liboiron, Max. "Abundance | Max Liboiron." Max Liboiron. Web. 12 May 2016.

Logar, Ernst. Invisible Oil. Vienna: Ambra Verlag, 2011. Print.

Olafur, Eliasson. Ice Watch Paris. Web. 12 May 2016.

Osodi, George. "Oil Rich Niger Delta 2003-2007." Goerge Osodi. Web. 12 May 2016.

Schmidt, Kevin. "Kevin Scmidt: A sign in the Northwest Passage." *Esker Foundation*. 2015. Web. 12 May 2016.

Seaward, Lucas. "Lucas Seaward - Oil Sands Art." Lucas Seaward. Web. 12 May 2016.

Sekula, Allan. *Black Tide/Marea negra*. Christopher Grimes Gallery, Santa Monica, 7 June – 12 July 2003.

Sisson, Lindy. "Honour Dance." YouTube. 13 Feb 2015. Web. 12 May 2016.

Banerjee, Subhankar. Subhankar Banerjee Home. 2002. Web. 12 May 2016.

Tiravanija, Rirkrit. *LESS OIL MORE COURAGE*. Kunsthalle Fridericianum, Kassel, 17 Jan.-21 June 2009.

Turcot, Susan. (2014). "Turning Down the Noise for a Short While: 10 Days Drawing in an Oil Camp." *Susan Turcot*. Web. 12 May 2016.

Veldstra, Aaron. Our Anaerobic Future. FAB Gallery, Edmonton, 2 July-11 July 2015.

von Tiesenhausen, Peter. Petervontiesenhausen. Web. 12 May 2016.

Walde, Paul. "Requiem for a Glacier." Paul Walde. Web. 12 May 2016.

Wilson, Julia Bryan. "Aftermath: two Queer Artists Respond to Nuclear Spaces." *Critical Landscapes: Art, Space, Politics*. Eds. Emily Eliza Scott and Kirsten Swenson. Oakland: University of California Press, 2015. Print.

Wilson, Richard. "Slick oil: Richard Wilson's 20:50 at the Saatchi Gallery." *The Guardian*. 12 Jan. 2010. Web. 12 May 2016.

Yowney, David. *Canadian Oil and Us*. Stuart Macpherson Public Library, Lac la Biche. Nov. 2014.

iii. Design, Sustainability and Awareness

Holmes, Tiffany. Tiffany Holmes. Web. 12 May 2016.

"Living Climate Change for IDEO." *IDEO*. Web. 11 May 2016.

iv. Petrol Advertising

Cenovus Energy. "Energy touches every part of our lives, See what role oil plays in the energy mix." *More2theStory*. Web. 11 May 2016.

Enbridge Energy. "Life Takes Energy- Enbridge Inc." Enbridge. Web. 11 May 2016.

v. Literature (Poetry, Novels and Theatre)

Adbusters.

Atwood, Margaret. The Heart Goes Last. New York: Nan A. Talese, 2015. Print.

Bringhurst, Robert. "The Focal Length of Fuel." *Selected Poems*. Port Townsend, Washington: Copper Canyon Press, 2011. Print.

Collis, Stephen. Once in Blockadia. Vancouver: Talon Books, 2016. Print.

Helbig, Louis. Beautiful Destruction. 2014. Web. 12 May 2016.

The Enpipe Line Contributors. *The Enpipe Line:* 70,000km of poetry written in resistance to the *Northern Gateway pipeline proposal.* Smithers: Creekstone Press, 2012. Print.

Wilson, Sheena. "Petro-Mama: Mothering in a Crude World." *Telling Truths: Storying Motherhood*. Eds. Sheena Wilson and Diana Davidson. Bradford, ON: Demeter Press, 2014. Print.

Wong, Rita. *Undercurrent*. Vancouver: blewointment, 2015. Print.

vi. Exhibitions/Curation/Residencies

Banff Centre for the Performing Arts. Budney, Jen. Mendel Gallery. Beneath a Petroliferous

Moon. 2015.

"Kitimat Questions: Energy." Kitimat Museum. Web. 12 May 2016.

Melancholy Bay: Images of English Bay, Burrard Inlet, and Howe Sound from the Collection. Morris and Helen Belkin Art Gallery, Vancouver, 19 Jun-23 Aug. 2015.

Pipeline: A Line of Division. Two Rivers Gallery, Prince George, 12 April-7 July 2013.

Still Life: Ecology, Art, and the Politics of Change. Sharjah Biennial 8 (SB8), Sharjah Art Museum, Sharjah, 4 Apr-4 Jun 2007.

vii. Critical-of-Energy Collectives

Art not Oil. Web. 12 May 2016.

Center for Land Use Interpretation. Web. 12 May 2016.

Haidawood. YouTube. Web. 12 May 2016.

Immersion Emergencies. Web. 12 May 2016.

Liberate Tate. Web. 12 May 2016.

#Nopipelines. Twitter. Web. 12 May 2016.

Otolith Group. Web. 12 May 2016.

Preemptive Media. Web. 12 May 2016.

Platform London. Web. 12 May 2016.

The Natural History Museum. Web. 12 May 2016.

National Academies Keck Futures Initiative. Web. 12 May 2016.

viii. Critical Literature

Cariou, Warren. "Tarhands: A Messy Manifesto." *Imaginations* 3.2 (2008): 17-34. PDF.

Dawson, Ashley. "Documenting Accumulation by Dispossession." *Critical Landscapes: Art, Space, Politics*. Eds. Emily Eliza Scott and Kirsten Swenson. Oakland: University of California Press, 2015. Print.

Evans, Mel. Artwash: Big Oil and the Arts. London: Pluto Press, 2015. Print.

McKee, Yates. *Strike Art: Contemporary Art and the Post-Occupy Condition*. New York: Verso Books, 2016. Print.